Cellular Mechanism for Targeting Heterochromatin Formation in *Drosophila*

Joel C. Eissenberg* and Gunter Reuter*

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Heterochromatin Domains in the Drosophila Genome	3
2.1. Cytological heterochromatin in Drosophila	3
2.2. Genetic properties of heterochromatin in Drosophila	6
2.3. Biochemical properties of heterochromatin	14
3. DNA Sequences that Target Heterochromatin	16
3.1. Pericentric DNA	16
3.2. The fourth chromosome	17
3.3. Transposon arrays and ectopic heterochromatin	18
3.4. Spreading of heterochromatin at rearrangement breakpoints	19
4. Histone Modifications and Heterochromatin Targeting	21
4.1. Heterochromatin-associated chromatin marks	21
4.2. Proteins that bind heterochromatin-associated marks	22
5. Nonhistone Proteins and Heterochromatin Targeting	23
5.1. Heterochromatin protein 1	23
5.2. Su(var)3–7	26
5.3. Su(var)3–9	27
5.4. Origin recognition complex	28
5.5. Cohesins and heterochromatin	29
5.6. Artificial targeting proteins and ectopic heterochromatin	29
6. Nuclear Associations and Heterochromatin in Drosophila	31
6.1. Trans-inactivation	31
6.2. Heterochromatin associations	32
7. Summary and Perspectives	33
References	34

* Edward A. Doisy Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Saint Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA

[†] Institute of Biology, Developmental Genetics, Martin Luther University Halle, Halle, Germany

International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, Volume 273	© 2009 Elsevier Inc.
ISSN 1937-6448, DOI: 10.1016/S1937-6448(08)01801-7	All rights reserved.

Abstract

Near the end of their 1990 historical perspective article "60 Years of Mystery," Spradling and Karpen (1990) observe: "Recent progress in understanding variegation at the molecular level has encouraged some workers to conclude that the heterochromatization model is essentially correct and that position-effect variegation can now join the mainstream of molecular biology." In the 18 years since those words were written, heterochromatin and its associated position effects have indeed joined the mainstream of molecular biology. Here, we review the findings that led to our current understanding of heterochromatin structural and functional properties gained through molecular genetics and cytology.

Key Words: Drosophila, Heterochromatin, Position-effect variegation, Chromatin. © 2009 Elsevier Inc.

1. INTRODUCTION

The term "heterochromatin" was coined by Heitz (1928) as the material he observed in liverwort nuclei that failed to disappear after telophase in the mitotic cell cycle. In subsequent studies (Zacharias, 1995), Heitz showed that Drosophila somatic nuclei contained heterochromatic material resembling what he had seen in plants. He noted the heterochromatic Y chromosome of Drosophila and initially characterized the heterochromatin as "genicly passive." Since that time, heterochromatin has been the subject of considerable research and conjecture. The extraordinary cytology afforded by the giant polytene chromosomes of Drosophila third-instar-larval salivary glands, combined with the rapid accumulation of cytological aberrations and genetic mutations, made Drosophila the organism of choice for the elucidation of heterochromatin properties. Although both euchromatin and heterochromatin are composed of DNA and are packaged into nucleosomes, the sequence composition in heterochromatin and the structural modifications of histones in heterochromatin are distinctive, respectively. Heterochromatin-associated nonhistone proteins have been identified through genetic and biochemical approaches. Much of the success in the molecular dissection of heterochromatin has been the result of genetic screens that identified modifiers of heterochromatin silencing activity.

2. HETEROCHROMATIN DOMAINS IN THE DROSOPHILA GENOME

2.1. Cytological heterochromatin in Drosophila

2.1.1. Pericentric heterochromatin

2.1.1.1. Pycnotic appearance In Drosophila, as in all higher eukaryotes, certain regions of each chromosome do not cyclically change their degree of condensation between interphase and metaphase but remain condensed throughout most of the cell cycle. These regions comprise the heterochromatin of the genome and include substantial amounts of the chromatin surrounding each centromere (pericentric heterochromatin). Regions that show an allocyclic behavior are collectively called euchromatin. During interphase, euchromatin is differentially packed too, and in polytene giant chromosomes of certain larval tissues, this differential condensation of interphase euchromatin is visible as transverse bands of condensed chromatin. This higher-order structure of chromatin and the mechanism of its assembly are by no means understood. The non-DNA moiety of chromatin represents not only a structural component, but is implicated in fundamental regulatory processes. During development, the determined programs of gene activity are stably inherited over mitoses; this cell memory information stored in the chromatin has been called "epigenetic information." The mechanisms of establishment and maintenance of epigenetic information are now being dissected and the biochemical and genetic tools to detect and manipulate epigenetic marks are becoming available (see the following sections).

2.1.1.2. Under-replication in polytene chromosomes The giant polytene chromosomes of *Drosophila* larval salivary glands (and various other larval tissues as well) are the result of multiple rounds of chromosome replication in the absence of mitosis. The replication products in euchromatin remain paired, giving rise to large bundles of chromatin fibers (Zhimulev *et al.*, 2004). In wild-type polytene chromosomes, both homologs pair. The alternating intervals of chromatin condensation and decondensation along the axis of each chromosome arm result, in the paired polytene chromosome bundles, in the appearance of transverse bands of condensed chromatin alternating with interbands of decondensed chromatin.

Relative to the euchromatin, most of the pericentric heterochromatin in polytene tissues is under-replicated (Gall *et al.*, 1971), giving rise to the amorphous, attenuated appearance of this material. Remarkably, certain loci that reside in pericentric heterochromatin are nonetheless fully polytenized, even as flanking repetitious DNA sequences are severely under-replicated (Berghella and Dimitri, 1996; Zhang and Spradling, 1995).

In addition, the pericentric regions of all the polytene chromosomes coalesce into a single structure called the chromocenter.

Using a combination of mutations in genes encoding the heterochromatin-associated proteins SU(UR) and SU(VAR)3-9 (discussed later in this chapter), Zhimulev and colleagues were able to force the polytenization of pericentric heterochromatin (Andreyeva et al., 2007). Under these conditions, the polytenized heterochromatin forms banded material that resembles euchromatin, permitting in situ hybridization mapping of specific genes in formerly heterochromatic regions. Immunolocalization on polytenized heterochromatin showed a number of bands that stained for HP1 and for histone H3 dimethylated at lysine 9 (H3K9me2). Presumably, these sites represent the vestigial staining sites previously observed within the heterochromatic chromocenter in Su(var)3-9 homozygous mutant chromosomes (Schotta et al., 2002). Interestingly, the remaining HP1 and H3K9me2 show relatively little overlap, suggesting that HP1 is targeted by a distinct mechanism from that used elsewhere in the genome (discussed later in this chapter). While the polytenization of heterochromatin by doubly inactivating SU(UR) and SU(VAR)3-9 creates a high-resolution picture of the DNA organization in this elusive region, caution should certainly be exercised in interpreting the distributions of proteins and chromatin modifications, considering that both SU(UR) and SU(VAR)3-9 are themselves being chromatin modifying proteins. Their loss could have secondary effects on gene expression and chromatin structure.

Heterochromatin protein distribution has mainly been studied in larval salivary gland chromosomes. Some mutations (e.g., *otu*) cause formation of polytene chromosomes in female ovarian nurse cells with morphology similar to salivary gland chromosomes (Heino, 1989; King *et al.*, 1981). Although similar in banding pattern, most of the cytological manifestations of heterochromatin are significantly less pronounced in nurse cell polytene chromosomes (Mal'ceva and Zhimulev, 1993). Interestingly, the hetero-chromatin proteins HP1, SUUR, and SU(VAR)3–9 are more abundant (Koryakov *et al.*, 2006). For the chromosomal distribution of SU(VAR)3–9, besides chromocentic heterochromatin, more than 200 additional binding sites along the euchromatic arms are detected. In these chromosomes, SU (VAR)3–9 binding only depends on SUUR in autosomes but not in the X chromosomes. Since ovarian nurse cells represent germ line cells, these findings suggest differential organization of heterochromatin in somatic and germ line chromosomes.

2.1.2. Intercalary heterochromatin

The term "intercalary heterochromatin" was first coined to describe certain sites along the euchromatic polytene X chromosome that showed an elevated frequency of breakage in squash preparations, similar to that seen at the heterochromatic base of the X (Kaufmann, 1939). This property has

been generalized to sites on the major autosomal arms as well, and the definition of intercalary heterochromatin has been expanded to include sites that are relatively under-replicated in polytene chromosomes and that undergo a thread-like physical association with the chromocenter termed "ectopic pairing" (Zhimulev, 1998; Zhimulev *et al.*, 2003a). The definition of intercalary heterochromatin, like the definition of heterochromatin itself, is a cytological one. As the genetic dissection of heterochromatin has progressed, and molecular probes for chromosomal proteins have been developed, similarities and distinctions between intercalary and pericentric heterochromatin have emerged (Zhimulev and Belyaeva, 2003).

The SUUR protein controls under-replication of intercalary heterochromatin as well as pericentric heterochromatin in polytene tissue (Belyaeva *et al.*, 1998). Many of these regions contain unique genes (e.g., BX-C and ANT-C) and about 60% of sites of intercalary heterochromatin show binding of PC-G proteins, suggesting that intercalary heterochromatin reflects silenced genes (Belyakin *et al.*, 2005).

2.1.3. Telomeric heterochromatin

The sequence organization of telomeric DNA in *Drosophila* is unusual among eukaryotes. Rather than being composed of monotonous polymers of short repeats synthesized by telomerase, *Drosophila* telomeres are built and maintained by the saltatory addition of copies of the HeT-A and TART non-LTR retrotransposable elements (Biessmann et al., 1990; Cenci et al., 2003a; Danilevskaya et al., 1994; Levis et al., 1993; Young et al., 1983).

The tendency of telomeres to undergo ectopic pairing in polytene chromosomes (Hinton and Atwood, 1941; Kaufmann and Gay, 1969) gives them the impression of being heterochromatic. They are also sites of binding for the heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 (Fanti *et al.*, 1998; James *et al.*, 1989; discussed later in the following sections), which seems to have a role in telomere capping (Fanti *et al.*, 1998) and telomere length regulation (Savitsky *et al.*, 2002). Like the pericentric and intercalary heterochromatin, telomeres are under-replicated in polytene salivary gland chromosomes (George *et al.*, 2006).

As will be discussed further, transgene insertions into subtelomeric regions in *Drosophila* show variegated silencing, but the genetic basis for this silencing appears to be distinct from that of pericentric heterochromatin.

2.1.4. Y chromosome

The Y chromosome of *Drosophila* is entirely heterochromatic in somatic tissue. Like pericentric heterochromatin, the Y is under-replicated in polytene tissue (Gall *et al.*, 1971). Chromosome translocations with breakpoints anywhere in the Y chromosome can cause heterochromatic position-effect silencing, and transposon insertions into the Y also experience heterochromatic silencing (Zhang and Spradling, 1994).

A supernumerary Y chromosome can suppress heterochromatic positioneffect silencing (discussed later in this chapter) that occurs in chromosome rearrangements (Gowen and Gay, 1934). This suppression has since been confirmed for all rearrangements that variegate for euchromatic loci and has been generalized into a rule by Morgan and Schultz (1942). Noujdin (1936, 1944) first reported the suppression of PEV by additional heterochromatin of either of the Y chromosome arms. Schultz (1936) extended the analysis of the effect of the Y chromosome aneuploidy on PEV and first described the strong enhancement due to a loss of Y chromosome in XO males. He was also the first to observe that susceptibility of variegation to Y chromosome aneuploidy represents a diagnostic feature for PEV. Since then, the modifier effect of Y chromosome aneuploidy has been used to discriminate between PEV and other cases of variegated gene expression (Gans, 1953; Becker, 1957).

The suppressive effect of additional heterochromatic material can best be understood if the heterochromatic regions in the nucleus are considered to be a sink for limiting quantities of silencing factors. For euchromatic genes experiencing silencing by neighboring heterochromatin, the silencing complexes propagated across the heterochromatic breakpoint would be recruited by additional heterochromatic material in *trans*, depleting them from the variegation-inducing site and thereby relieving silencing. The sequestering effect of additional heterochromatin may account for the curious observation of Cooper (1955) that, in XXYY females and XYYY males having an otherwise wild type chromosomal constitution, the adult eye becomes variegated, with large patches of bleached pigmentation. This effect could be explained if the consequence of such a large amount of additional heterochromatin was the misregulation of normally heterochromatic genes (such as *light*) even within their normal chromosomal context.

Taken together, the genetics and cytology of the Y chromosome in *Drosophila* argue that it is an example of heterochromatin. Since the Y chromosome is required in males for fertility and is extensively decondensed and transcribed in primary spermatocytes (Bonaccorsi *et al.*, 1988), it is probably best regarded as facultative heterochromatin: heterochromatic in somatic tissue but euchromatic in the germ line.

2.2. Genetic properties of heterochromatin in *Drosophila*

2.2.1. Gene silencing: Heterochromatic position-effect variegation

Beginning with Muller (1930), chromosome rearrangements that break within pericentric heterochromatin, the Y chromosome or the fourth chromosome have been associated with variegated gene silencing, a phenomenon called "position-effect variegation" (Spofford, 1976).

The term "position effect" was first used by Sturtevant (1925) and Dobzhansky (1932, 1936) to designate effects on gene action that were clearly dependent on a new position in the chromosome complement.

In this early period, the experimental work of geneticists on position effects was aimed at learning about chromosome organization and regulation of gene action. Lewis (1950) first classified the different phenomena of position effects into the relatively rare cases of a stable type and the more frequently observed variegated type position effects. For variegated type position effects, it was first shown by Schultz (1936) that the new position of a gene adjacent to heterochromatic regions is the cause for the variegated expression. Such rearrangements were first described by Muller (1930) in his classical experiments demonstrating the mutagenic action of X-rays, and referred to by him as "eversporting displacements," "sport" being an early term referring to mutants. Between 1930 and 1940, all of the defining characteristics of PEV were described. Morgan and Schultz (1942) first defined a series of general rules which hold true for the cases of PEV he had studied. In the three classical reviews on PEV (Baker, 1968; Lewis, 1950; Spofford, 1976), these main rules have been further refined on the basis of a large amount of data then available.

2.2.2. Silencing requires the placement of the silenced locus in *cis* to silencing heterochromatin

This rule, according to Baker (1968), consists of demonstrating a wild-type function of the variegating gene after its restoration from the rearrangement back to a normal chromosome via crossover. This was shown by Dubinin and Sidorov (1935), Panshin (1935), and Judd (1955) in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Additional proof for the *cis* dominance came from revertant analysis (Griffen and Stone, 1940; Grüneberg, 1937; Kaufmann, 1942; Panshin, 1938). Reversion of the variegated phenotype was found to be accompanied by reversion of the rearrangement or by relocation of the affected locus into a new position.

An apparent exception to this rule is the dominant variegation seen at the *brown* locus (discussed later in this chapter). In this case, a wild-type *brown* allele on the homologous chromosome is inactivated by a variegating rearrangement. It appears, however, that the underlying basis for the dominant variegation is the conjunction of two mechanisms: (1) the establishment of a heterochromatic domain as a result of chromosome rearrangement and (2) an unusual sensitivity of the *brown* regulatory machinery to pairing interactions which, in the case of a paired homolog associated with a heterochromatic breakpoint, results in *trans*-silencing. The mechanistic basis for pairing-dependent inactivation is unknown, but since inactivation is coupled to a mechanism which does fulfill the rules of PEV, the exceptional nature of this phenomenon is more apparent than real.

2.2.3. Additional dosage of heterochromatin titrates silencing

As discussed above, increasing the dose of the Y chromosome, X chromosome heterochromatin or the fourth chromosome all have the effect of suppressing position-effect variegation. Interdependence between the amount of heterochromatin and the dosage of factors controlling heterochromatin formation is supported by identification of mutations displaying heterochromatin-sensitive lethality. Altogether, mutations for three genes (Su(var)2-1, Su(var)3-3 and *bonus*) have been identified which display recessive lethal interaction with additional heterochromatin, such as an extra copy of the Y chromosome. The mutations are homozygous viable in XX females and XO males but semilethal in XY males and almost completely lethal if an additional Y chromosome (XXY females or XYY males) is present (Beckstead *et al.*, 2005; Reuter *et al.*, 1982b). The Su(var)3-3 genes encodes the *Drosophila* homolog of the mammalian histone H3 lysine 4 demethylase LSD1 and was shown to control the balance between euchromatin and heterochromatin in early *Drosophila* embryogenesis (Rudolph *et al.*, 2007).

2.2.4. The silencing effect of heterochromatin diminishes with distance from nearby heterochromatin

The polar effect of inactivation for PEV was discovered as a consequence of extensive cytogenetic analyses by Demerec and coworkers (Demerec, 1940, 1941; Demerec and Slizynska, 1937) using different white- and Notchvariegating rearrangements. In the inversion $In(1)N^{264-52}$, variegation was observed for five linked genes located within a ca. 50-band interval adjacent to the heterochromatic breakpoint. Heterochromatin appears to propagate for a variable distance into euchromatin and cause the variegated expression of genes in PEV (Demerec, 1941; Prokofieva-Belgovskaya, 1939, 1941, 1947). Prokofieva-Belgovskaya (1947) summarized her results of a thorough cytological analysis of several different position-effect rearrangements $(sc^{\bar{g}}, w^{m\bar{5}}, rst^{\bar{3}}, and w^{m\bar{4}})$, finding that gene inactivation in all these rearrangements could be correlated with a visible heterochromatinization of the euchromatic regions immediately adjacent to the rearrangement breakpoint. She also studied the frequency of heterochromatinization under the influence of different modifiers of PEV like the presence of an additional Y chromosome, temperature of development, parental origin of the rearrangement, and age of parents. Most of these studies were performed with $In(1)sc^8$, a rearrangement with visible variegation for the yellow, achaete, and scute genes, which had been already extensively used for a study of different PEV modifier effects by Noujdin (1944).

Using a series of secondary rearrangements derived from X-irradiation of In(1LR)pn2a, Gvozdev and colleagues (Tolchkov *et al.*, 2000) showed that the amount of heterochromatin at the breakpoint has a quantitative effect on variegation. Importantly, though, the presence of a centromere within the heterochromatic block had a stronger effect than a much larger block of paracentric heterochromatin lacking the centromere. This suggests that sequence composition of heterochromatin plays an important role in the induction and/or propagation of silencing heterochromatin. In addition

to the rules described earlier, there are a number of frequently (though not universally) observed properties associated with heterochromatic silencing.

2.2.5. The clonal nature of PEV

The clonal nature of gene silencing in PEV was suggested by mitotic twin spot analysis and comparisons to pattern formation during development of the Drosophila eye anlage. These studies were performed by Becker (1957) and Baker (1967) for the eye anlage of D. melanogaster and D. virilis, respectively. Comparison of clonal patches marked by X-ray-induced mitotic crossing-over induced at different developmental stages with the variegation pattern of different white-variegating rearrangements suggested that inactivation of the *white* gene is based on cell lineage and determined by the end of first larval instar, when about 20 presumptive eye cells are present (Baker, 1967; Becker, 1961, 1966). Janning (1970, 1971) induced twin spots in the eye anlage at different times during development and analyzed their overlap with PEV induced mutant white spots in a $Dp(1;3)w^{m264-58}$ background. Because clones induced at the end of the first larval instar overlap with the white PEV spots, the time of white inactivation by heterochromatin was inferred to be clonally decided at this time during development of the eye anlage.

An outstanding question in chromatin biology is whether levels of a histone modifier must be maintained continuously to set levels of gene expression or whether modifier levels initiate an epigenetic mark that is stable to changes in modifier levels later in development. Reuter and colleagues tested whether reduced SU(VAR)3–9 is required continuously in the *Drosophila* eye to set PEV levels. Clonal analysis with Su(var)3–9 null mutations suggests that SU(VAR)3–9 controls heterochromatin formation by dimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 9 (H3K9me2) during early embyronic development (Rudolph *et al.*, 2007; Fig. 1.1). Su+/Su+ clones



Figure 1.1 Establishment of the euchromatin-associated (H3K4me2) and heterochromatin (H3K9me2) histone methylation marks first occurs during early embryogenesis at the syncytial blastoderm stage when nuclei show an apico-basal polarity ("Rabl configuration"). Euchromatin, identified by diffuse H3K4me2 staining, is located towards the lower basal side of the nuclei. DAPI ("DNA"; red) intensely stains the pericentric heterochromatin at the upper apical pole, which is enriched in histone H3K9me2 methylation mark. Photo provided by Thomas Rudolph. (See Color Insert.)

were induced in Su(var)3-9/+ heterozygotes by the flipase/FRT mitotic recombination system. Although two wild type copies of the Su(var)3-9gene are present in the Su+/Su+ clones, white gene silencing in the w^{m4} PEV rearrangement is only restored in large clones induced early in development. Reversion of the suppressor effect in late-induced clones does not occur with additional cell divisions, suggesting that after early establishment of heterochromatin, the chromatin state established by reduced Su(var)3-9dosage is stably maintained throughout consecutive development. This contrasts with another chromatin modifier, the histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylase TRITHORAX, which is required continuously to maintain HOX gene activity in *Drosophila* (Ingham, 1985). Thus, SU(VAR)3-9 functions in heterochromatin as part of a mechanism of epigenetic memory.

2.2.6. Paternal and parental effects

Although a basic analysis of paternal and maternal effects in PEV had been reported by Noujdin (1944), the analysis of such effects was mainly extended within a period (1950-1970) when PEV was only studied by few scientists. Genetic analysis of most basic characteristics of PEV was already advanced and experimental work was more focused on modifying factors. A maternal suppressor effect of an extra Y was first reported by Noujdin (1944) for the $In(1)sc^8$ rearrangement. The sc^8 homozygous female offspring showed a ca. eightfold reduction in variegation for yellow and acheate if additional Y chromosome material was present in the mother. Spofford (1976) reported a similar maternal suppressor effect of an additional Y chromosome for $Dp(1;3)N^{264-58}$ and a similar effect was reported for the white-variegating rearrangement $Dp(1;3)w^{\nu co}$ (Khesin and Bashkirov, 1978). Noujdin (1944) also reported a paternal suppressor effect of additional Y chromosome material for $In(1)\gamma^{3P}$ variegating for yellow. In other variegating rearrangements of D. melanogaster, no significant maternal or paternal effects of additional Y chromosome material have been reported. Schneider (1962) found a maternal suppressor effect of an additional Y chromosome in one of the six *peach*-variegating rearrangement of *D. virilis* studied.

Parental source of the rearrangement can also affect significantly the extent of variegation in the offspring. Such effects were described for Dp $(1;3)N^{264-58}$ by Spofford (1959), and for $In(1)sc^8$ by Prokofieva-Belgovskaya (1947). In the case of $Dp(1;3)N^{264-58}$, variegation was more enhanced if the rearrangement was maternal in origin, whereas in sc^8 , heterochromatinization was enhanced with a paternal origin of the rearrangement.

A stable paternal effect was observed in crosses with several *Enhancer of* variegation [E(var)] mutations (Dorn *et al.*, 1993). In a cross of $w^{m4}/w^{m4}+/+$ females to $w^{m4}/Y E(var)/+$ males the $w^{m4}/Y+/+$ offspring males show enhanced white variegation, although the enhancer mutation is not present. In a series of crosses, it was demonstrated that the Y chromosome has

acquired a stable ability to enhance *white* variegation in w^{m4} independent of the genetic background. Once acquired, the enhancer effect of the Y chromosome is maintained through consecutive generations. The molecular basis for this Y chromosome imprinting effect is unknown.

2.2.7. Temperature sensitivity of PEV

As a rule, in *Drosophila*, low temperature of development enhances variegation of euchromatic genes subject to PEV, whereas a higher temperature shows a suppressor effect. This was first described for white variegating rearrangements by Gowen and Gay (1934). The effect of temperature on PEV extended to the polar effect of genetic inactivation as well as cytological condensation (Hartmann-Goldstein, 1967; Rudkin, 1965). The temperature effect can be understood in the general context of thermal effects on protein folding if one imagines silencing as mediated by a proteinaceous complex: high temperature would weaken such a complex, while lower temperatures would stabilize it. There are consistent differences in the strength of the modifying effect of temperature on PEV when different rearrangements are compared. This might be due to differences in the genetic and molecular nature of the heterochromatin inducing PEV. Temperature-sensitive periods were mapped in order to determine the developmental stage(s) when gene inactivation in PEV takes place. In the rearrangement studied, the major temperature sensitive period was found during the first two days of puparium formation (Becker, 1961; Chen, 1948; Hartmann-Goldstein, 1967; Schultz, 1956). Possible tissue-specific differences were indicated by results of a study of temperature-sensitive periods for PEV in salivary glands and Malpighian tubules (Hartmann-Goldstein, 1967).

By inspection of the giant polytene chromosomes of *Drosophila* larval salivary glands taken from PEV lines, the cytological site of the variegating locus loses its banded, fully polytenized euchromatic appearance in some nuclei, and to take on the disorganized, densely staining, attenuated appearance of heterochromatin (Caspersson and Schultz, 1938; Henikoff, 1981; Kornher and Kauffman, 1986; Prokofyeva-Belgovskaya, 1939). Moreover, this structural dimorphism is sensitive to temperature (Belyaeva and Zhimulev, 1991; Prokofyeva-Belgovskaya 1947; Schultz, 1941; Zhimulev *et al.*, 1988) and to genetic modifiers of PEV (Belyaeva and Zhimulev, 1991; Reuter *et al.*, 1982a; Zhimulev *et al.*, 1988). In at least one case, the morphologically heterochromatic variegating locus recruits the normally heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 (Belyaeva *et al.*, 1993). Thus, the cytological compaction of a variegating locus is taken to be a morphological manifestation of the silencing mechanism.

The chromosome structural changes that correlate with genetic silencing imply that the mechanism operates at the level of transcription. Indeed, a reduction in transcription of a variegating locus has been demonstrated by *in vivo* pulse-labeling (Henikoff, 1981) and by quantitative mRNA blot hybridization (Henikoff and Dreesen, 1989; Kornher and Kauffman, 1986; Rushlow *et al.*, 1984; Wallrath and Elgin, 1995). While position-dependent changes in RNA turnover rates cannot rigorously be excluded in any of these cases, the simplest interpretation is that the silencing mechanism acts at the level of transcript synthesis. Central to the notion that epigenetic change sunderlie the phenomenon of PEV is that no irreversible genetic change explains the silencing effect (although covalent changes in DNA structure may be a concomitant of the silencing mechanism in some cases). Thus, demonstrating that silencing can be efficiently reversed represents strong evidence that the mechanistic basis of silencing does not require the mutation or deletion of variegating genes.

Two recent studies bear on this point. Lu et al. (1996) used a ubiquitously inducible reporter for PEV to investigate the developmental progression of PEV silencing (see further for details on this system). They found that silencing of an HSP70-lacZ reporter was extensive in the third instar precursors of the adult eye (the eye imaginal discs) but was dramatically relaxed in the adult eye. This extensive relaxation of silencing during differentiation is difficult to explain as an efficient reversal of mutational inactivation. In a separate study, Ahmad and Golic (1996) used a white reporter flanked by the FRT recombination sites, subject to PEV silencing. When they mobilized somatic DNA excision with a heat shock-inducible FLP "flippase" activity, they found red-pigmented facets among the white sectors of the adult eye. This result suggests that when the *white* reporter escapes the chromosomal context by FLP-catalyzed excision and circularization as an episome, it recovers full function. Here too, such efficient recovery of function is best explained by a model of chromosome-dependent epigenetic silencing.

Interest in the phenomenon of heterochromatic PEV has intensified in the last 20 years because it has proven to be such a useful tool for the structural and functional dissection of heterochromatin and euchromatin (Eissenberg, 1989; Eissenberg and Wallrath, 2003; Grigliatti, 1991; Reuter and Spierer, 1992). As modifiers of PEV have been cloned and characterized, the vast majority have proven to encode chromosomal proteins or their modifiers. Many of these are evolutionarily conserved, arguing for a conserved mechanism for heterochromatin assembly and maintenance.

2.2.8. Centromere activity

In *Drosophila*, the centromeres of chromosomes are diffuse structures. The *Drosophila* X centromeric region, the best characterized of the *Drosophila* centromeres, consists of interspersed blocks of unique sequence and repetitious DNA (Le *et al.*, 1995; Murphy and Karpen, 1995). Using a series of deletions that remove blocks of pericentric X chromosome heterochromatin, Karpen *et al.* (1996) found evidence that centric heterochromatin

contains multiple pairing elements that are required for the proper alignment of achiasmate chromosomes in meiosis I in *Drosophila* females. Genetic screens for factors influencing the fidelity of meiotic chromosome transmission identified a number of genes previously implicated in heterochromatic position-effect variegation (Hari *et al.*, 2001; Le *et al.*, 2004).

Surprisingly, the pattern of histone modifications in the putative centromeric chromatin is distinct from those associated with pericentric heterochromatin (Sullivan and Karpen, 2004). Presumably, such differences reflect the distinctive role of centromeric chromatin in the formation of the kinetochore and the recruitment of microtubules during mitosis.

2.2.9. Suppression of meiotic recombination

The frequency of meiotic recombination is very low within the pericentric heterochromatin of *Drosophila* (Brown, 1940; Muller and Painter, 1932). Furthermore, the frequency of recombination relative to physical distance is reduced in the euchromatin near the pericentric heterochromatin and the telomeres of the major chromosome arms (Ashburner, 1989). A mechanistic link between the inhibition of meiotic recombination in heterochromatin and the position–effect silencing of gene expression observed at heterochromatic breakpoints is suggested by the observation that several mutations that cause dominant suppression of heterochromatic position–effect variegation (discussed later in this chapter) enhance recombination in pericentric heterochromatin (Westphal and Reuter, 2002). Thus, the mechanism that silences euchromatic gene as a result of position effects also interferes with normal meiotic recombination.

2.2.10. Suppressor of under-replication

The Suppressor of Underreplication [Su(UR)] locus was discovered serendipitously in a stock carrying an X-ray induced X chromosome rearrangement (Belyaeva et al., 1998). The original Su(UR) allele is a semidominant, maternal-effect enhancer of polytenization of pericentric and intercalary heterochromatin in larval salivary gland and ovarian polytene chromosomes. Flies homozygous for Su(UR) mutation are viable, and the enhancement of polytenization of heterochromatin is more extreme. The protein encoded by the Su(UR) locus contains an AT hook domain and homology to the ATPase domain of SWI2/SNF2 family chromatin remodeling proteins (Makunin et al., 2002). Outside of these motifs, though, there are no obvious homologs of SU(UR) in other organisms. In salivary gland polytene chromosomes, the SU(UR) protein is concentrated in the chromocenter and at sites of intercalary heterochromatin on the euchromatic arms.

Overexpression of SU(UR) protein in transgenic larvae results in a striking, temperature-sensitive distension, or swelling of the chromocenter and intercalary heterochromatin sites (Zhimulev *et al.*, 2003a). These swellings, unlike classical polytene chromosome puffs, are not a consequence of

transcription, since they do not accumulate tritiated uridine. EM micrographs reveal lacunae within these swellings, and at the light microscope level, the swellings are largely devoid of SU(UR) protein while still staining strongly for DNA.

In flies that are doubly mutant for Su(UR) and Su(var)3-9 (which encodes a histone H3 lysine 9 methyltransferase; discussed later in this chapter), a further polytenization of the pericentric heterochromatin of the third chromosome occurs beyond that seen in Su(UR) mutants alone (Andreyeva *et al.*, 2007). Surprisingly, double mutation for Su(UR) and the gene encoding HP1 (discussed below) does not have the same effect, suggesting that the phenotype of the Su(UR)-Su(var)3-9 double mutant is not simply due to the loss of HP1 binding to the methyl mark normally created by the Su(var)3-9 gene product.

2.3. Biochemical properties of heterochromatin

Several studies have tested the accessibility of DNA at variegating loci to nucleolytic attack or enzymatic modification; most yielded results suggesting little or no structural difference between a silenced locus and its euchromatic counterpart (Hayashi *et al.*, 1990; Locke and McDermid, 1993; Schloßherr *et al.*, 1994; Wines *et al.*, 1996). However, the relatively low resolution of the measurements in these cases, together with a lack of detailed structural information concerning the euchromatic structure of the variegating locus argue for caution in the interpretation of these experiments. When the conditions of high resolution measurements and prior knowledge of the gene involved were met; however, a close correlation between silencing and DNA packaging was observed (Wallrath and Elgin, 1995).

Wallrath and Elgin (1995) employed a transposon bearing the hsp26 promoter to analyze the structural consequences of heterochromatic inactivation. The choice of the *hsp26* promoter was especially apposite in this case, since the chromatin structure of this promoter at its normal chromosomal position at position 67B has been characterized in detail (Cartwright and Elgin, 1986; Thomas and Elgin, 1988) and since the in vivo structural requirements for its chromosomal architecture and activity have been extensively investigated (Lu et al., 1992, 1993). Transgene insertions showing variegation of a linked Hsp70-mini-white reporter were selected and characterized as to their insertion sites: 4 were insertions in pericentric heterochromatin, 9 were insertions at telomeric sites, and 18 were found at various positions throughout the fourth chromosome. Only for the pericentric and fourth chromosome inserts did inclusion of the dominant suppressor $Su(var)2-1^{01}$ or reduced HP1 levels result in suppression of white variegation; none of the inserts at the telomeres of the second or third chromosome responded to these modifiers. For selected lines, suppression of hsp26-driven transcription was confirmed by quantitative

Nothern blotting. It was possible to distinguish transgene transcription from the endogenous *hsp26* gene transcription because the transgene promoter directs transcription of a barley cDNA fragment not found in flies. For all pericentric insertion lines tested, transcripts of the barley sequence were reduced, and this reduction was reversed for all but one line when HP1 dose was reduced. Again, though, variegating transgene insertions in the telomeres showed levels of barley transcripts comparable to euchromatic controls, and this expression was either not affected or slightly reduced by reduced HP1 dosage.

Nuclei were prepared from non-heat-shocked transgenic third instar larvae and the sensitivity to digestion with Xba 1, which cleaves within each of two DNase I hypersensitive sites in the hsp26 promoter, was measured by Southern blot hybridization using a transgene-specific probe. With the digestion efficiency obtained using a euchromatic insertion arbitrarily set as 100% accessibility, it was found that all variegating inserts showed significantly reduced accessibility, even a telomeric insert on the second chromosome which showed no effect on hsp26-mediated transcript levels. In this and a more recent study (Sun *et al.*, 2001), micrococcal nuclease digests revealed a more regular nucleosomal ladder at the silenced loci compared to their euchromatic counterparts, suggesting a more ordered chromatin structure underlies the nuclease resistance.

One reservation concerning the interpretation of nuclease sensitivity studies is that, of necessity, suspensions of free nuclei must be used, since nucleases cannot penetrate the plasma membrane. Thus, one cannot be certain that no rearrangement of chromatin structure occurs during the preparation of nuclei. To circumvent this objection, the accessibility of the DNA in silenced loci to modification by E. coli Dam methyltransferase in transformed flies has been tested (Boivin and Dura, 1998). Since methylation is occurring in intact cells, this differential accessibility is the in vivo state. Adenine methylation is tolerated well in flies (Boivin and Dura, 1998; Wines et al., 1996); a maximum of 50% methylation overall is observed. Boivin and Dura (1998) used transgenic flies expressing Dam methyltransferase under an Hsp70 promoter, and assayed for methylation based on sensitivity of the purified DNA to digestion with a methylation-sensitive restriction endonuclease. Under these conditions, the efficiency of methylation is the same for a euchromatic locus independent of its transcriptional state. In contrast, white DNA sequences in a classical PEV reporter as well as in transgene reporters subject to heterochromatic PEV showed reduced methylation compared to euchromatic DNA controls. Methylation in 5' and 3' sequences was similar at a given locus, suggesting that the chromatin differences were not restricted to the promoter.

The pycnotic appearance of heterochromatin, the relative resistance of heterochromatic DNA to exogenous nuclease digestion (Wallrath and Elgin, 1995) and endogenously expressed DNA methylase (Boivin and Dura, 1998), and the relatively ordered nucleosome arrays that package heterochromatic DNA (Sun *et al.*, 2001) together suggest a model in which heterochromatin silencing is imposed by occlusion of DNA binding sites for transcription activators and/or RNA polymerase. Chromatin footprinting analysis supports this model (Cryderman *et al.*, 1999a).

In some cases, though, transcription factors with high affinity for their DNA target sites can compete successfully with heterochromatin to prevent the establishment of silencing (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2001; Eissenberg, 2001a). Furthermore, there are a number of genes in *Drosophila* that reside in pericentric heterochromatin and require a heterochromatin context in order to function (Eissenberg and Hilliker, 2000; Rossi *et al.*, 2007; Yasuhara and Wakimoto, 2006). Thus, heterochromatin does not present an impenetrable barrier to DNA binding proteins, but would seem to shift the binding equilibrium away from the bound state.

3. DNA Sequences that Target Heterochromatin

Unlike mammals and plants, *Drosophila* has little DNA methylation, and whatever cytosine methylation exists has no discernible role in gene regulation. In respect to the DNA sequence composition of heterochromatin of *Drosophila*, however, there are characteristics that distinguish it from the sequence composition of euchromatin.

3.1. Pericentric DNA

*Drosophila*is the first organism for which a large part of the heterochromatic sequence was successfully mapped, assembled, and finished (Hoskin *et al.*, 2007; Smith *et al.*, 2007). The studies revealed that the constitutive heterochromatin of *Drosophila*, like constitutive heterochromatin in other animals and plants, is highly enriched in middle repetitive and satellite DNA. Within complex repeats, though, islands of highly conserved genes are found. Altogether, more than 230 protein-coding genes were detected which are also found in other *Drosophila* species. Altogether, 77% of the heterochromatic sequences are repetitive or transposable element (TE) sequences. Frequently, nests of TE elements that are fragmented, interdigitated, and transposed into one another are found. Almost 900 such repeat nests could be defined. Specific TE elements have been implicated in gene silencing by heterochromatin (discussed later in this chapter).

There is no conserved sequence feature shared by eukaryotic heterochromatin. Between different species and even different strains of *Drosophila*, the amount of heterochromatin and satellite compositions vary widely (Bosco *et al.*, 2007; Gall *et al.*, 1971; Halfer, 1981; Kuhn and Sene, 2005; Lohe and Brutlag, 1986; Schweber, 1974). These studies suggest that variation in heterochromatic satellite DNA contributes significantly to genome size evolution. Such evolutionary diversity may reflect competition between centromeres for success in the egg, as has been proposed for the centromeric satellite DNA (Henikoff *et al.*, 2001; Malik and Henikoff, 2002). But regardless of the evolutionary basis, the extraordinary diversity of DNA sequences that underlie pericentric heterochromatin suggests that the mechanism of heterochromatin formation requires factors besides an underlying consensus DNA sequence.

The heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 binds DNA *in vitro* (Perrini *et al.*, 2004; Zhao *et al.*, 2000). Crosslinking studies suggest that direct binding of HP1 to telomeric DNA could target HP1 to these chromosomal sites (Perrini *et al.*, 2004). In an attempt to infer a preferred DNA sequence target site for HP1 binding, Greil *et al.* (2003) compared the nonrepetitive sequences targeted by HP1 in Kc cultured cells. They found that AT-rich motifs, consisting of stretches of adenosines or stretches of thymidines were enriched at these sites. Previous *in vitro* experiments showed that there is no strong DNA sequence preference for purified recombinant HP1 (Zhao *et al.*, 2000). However, *Drosophila* HP1 is multiply phosphorylated (Eissenberg *et al.*, 1994; Zhao and Eissenberg, 1999; Zhao *et al.*, 2001), so either posttranslational modification or association with other factors could confer sequence-preferential binding *in vivo*.

3.2. The fourth chromosome

The fourth chromosome in D. melanogster is by far the shortest autosome, representing ca. 3.5% of the genome and estimated to be ca. 5 Mb in length (Locke and McDermid, 1993). The fourth chromosome shares some attributes of heterochromatin, notably that it undergoes no detectable meiotic recombination (Bridges, 1935; Hochman, 1976), replicates late in the cell cycle (Barigozzi et al., 1966), is relatively enriched in middle repetitive DNA (Locke et al., 1999; Miklos et al., 1988), is associated with rearrangements that induce heterochromatic position effects, and is enriched in the heterochromatin-asociated protein HP1 (discussed below) and histone H3 dimethylated at lysine 9 (de Wit et al., 2007; Greil et al., 2003; James et al., 1989; Schotta et al., 2002). Interestingly, however, the enzyme that methylates lysine 9 of histone H3 in pericentric heterochromatin, and that is required for silencing of genes mislocalized to pericentric heterochromatin (see below) is not required for methylation of lysine 9 of histone H3 (H3K9) on the fourth chromosome (Schotta et al., 2002). Instead, the Drosophila SETDB1 protein is required for H3K9 dimethylation on chromosome four and for silencing of transgene reporters on the fourth (Seum et al., 2007).

Genetic analysis suggests that one or more TE families mediate heterochromatin-like transgene silencing on the *Drosophila* fourth chromosome.

Using the expression of *white*-marked transposons as reporters and a series of nested deletions, Sun et al. (2004) implicated nearby copies of the 1360/ hoppel transposon as sources for transgene silencing on the fourth chromosome. The silencing depended on the dosage of the heterochromatinassociated protein HP1. At other chromosomal sites, members of the 1360/hoppel transposon family recruit high levels of HP1, although the levels appear to depend on whether the transposon is in chromosome regions enriched for repetitious DNA (de Wit et al., 2005, 2007). Short RNAs corresponding to both sense and antisense strands of 1360/hoppel elements are detectable in Kc cultured cells (Haynes et al., 2006), suggesting that RNA interference (RNAi) is part of the mechanism of 1360/hoppeldependent silencing. Indeed, mutations in genes encoding subunits of the Drosophila RNAi machinery partially relieve silencing associated with 1360/ hoppel elements (Pal-Bhadra et al., 2004). In a direct test of the ability of 1360/hoppel elements to impose position-effect silencing, Haynes et al. (2006) cloned a copy of 1360/hoppel adjacent to a mini-white transposon reporter. Of 22 independent insertions spanning both major autosomes, only one insert showed variegated silencing. This insert is located near the base of the left arm of the second chromosome at a transposon-rich site, and the silencing is sensitive to HP1 dosage and mutation in Su(var)3-9, mutation in genes encoding components of the Drosophila RNAi mechanism. While these results clearly show a requirement for chromosomal positioning near natural heterochromatin in the silencing mechanism, the authors show that deletion of the 1360/hoppel sequence at this insertion site partially relieves silencing. Thus, 1360/hoppel elements appear unable to independently target heterochromatin formation to ectopic sites, but can cooperate with nearby repeat elements to enhance or spread heterochromatin. This model for cooperative interactions to target heterochromatin assembly fits well with tethering experiments showing that tethering HP1 to a transgene reporter can target heterochromatic silencing only when the transgene insertion is in a repeat-rich region (Seum et al., 2001).

3.3. Transposon arrays and ectopic heterochromatin

In *Drosophila*, the introduction of multiple transgenes carrying the same marker generally results in dosage effect for the expression of the marker. In certain cases, however, the multiplication of transgenes leads to silencing. The first report of this paradoxical phenomenon involved transposons marked with mini-*white*; local transposition of the transposon results in transposon arrays, some of which result in variegated *white* expression (Dorer and Henikoff, 1994, 1997). HP1 is found at the site of transgene arrays in polytene chromosomes (Fanti *et al.*, 1998). Interestingly, lower amount of HP1 are present at arrays at which no silencing is detectable, suggesting that HP1 binding alone is not sufficient for the silencing.

X-irradiation of stocks carrying variegating mini-*white* transposon arrays resulted in lines showing enhanced or suppressed variegation (Dorer and Henikoff, 1997). Lines showing enhanced variegation had chromosome rearrangements that placed the transgene closer to pericentric heterochromatin, and recombining the transgene back to its original position suppressed the variegation. Transgene array silencing is not limited to mini-*white* transposons. Arrays composed of transposons marked with *brown* also show variegation (Sabl and Henikoff, 1996), but in this case, only when the array is located very close to pericentric heterochromatin. Thus, mini-*white* transposons seem more prone to array-induced heterochromatin formation than are transposons marked with *brown*.

On the other hand, a transposon carrying a *Prat-brown* fusion transgene appears refractory to array induced silencing. Arrays of up to 320 kb at a euchromatic insertion site show no evidence of silencing (Clark *et al.*, 1998). Thus, like other transposons in the *Drosophila* genome, P-elements can promote heterochromatin assembly, but not all P-elements do so. These differences could be explained by the differences in protein complexes assembled on different transgenes, differences in promoter strength of the transgenes, the presence of elements that inhibit heterochromatin assembly, or some combination of factors.

3.4. Spreading of heterochromatin at rearrangement breakpoints

In 1988, Tartof and colleagues proposed a mass-action model for the assembly and propagation of heterochromatin based on the genetics of heterochromatin position-effect silencing in Drosophila (Locke et al., 1988). This model was designed to explain the genetic observation that several genes each appeared to have dosage-dependent effects on heterochromatic silencing, implying that multiple rate-limiting factors for heterochromatin exist simultaneously. The model also incorporated the idea that spreading of heterochromatic silencing appears to occur from a heterochromatic breakpoint. There are three general features of this model: (1) that heterochromatin consists of nucleoprotein complexes whose integrity depends on a multiplicity of interactions, and that multiple complex subunits can each be limiting for the *cis*-spreading of the complex; (2) that such complexes normally are targeted to one or more "initiation sites" in the DNA of pericentric heterochromatin and spread in *cis* from these sites in a cooperative fashion; and (3) that spreading is normally contained by termination sites and that position-effects arise when chromosome rearrangements permit spreading into a normally euchromatic region. Considerable molecular and genetic data support all three elements of this model.

Spreading of heterochromatin has been demonstrated directly by chromatin immunoprecipitation analysis in the w^{m4} PEV rearrangement (Rudolph *et al.*, 2007). Here, spreading of the heterochromatic dimethylated H3K9 (H3K9me2) histone methylation mark, a histone modification normally enriched in pericentric heterochromatin (discussed later in this chapter) into the euchromatic *white* gene region has been demonstrated. Spreading of H3K9me2 clearly depends on dosage of the histone H3K9 methyltransferase SU(VAR)3–9 (discussed later in this chapter) and the function of the histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) demethylase SU(VAR)3–3 (DmLSD1).

The mechanism that normally constrains heterochromatin spreading in higher eukaryotes is poorly understood. One contributor could be the abundant DNA binding protein GAGA factor. GAGA factor was shown to interact with the FACT complex, which facilitates nucleosome remodeling essential for maintenance of Hox gene expression (Shimojima *et al.*, 2003). The GAGA factor–FACT complex is also involved in control of heterochromatin spreading in PEV by facilitating replacement of H3K9–methylated histones by the unmethylated histone variant H3.3 (Fig. 1.2). This function counteracts heterochromatin spreading and could explain at the molecular level why GAGA factor mutations are enhancers of PEV (Nakayama *et al.*, 2008).

An overly literal reading of the model would infer that heterochromatin complexes can only be initiated within canonical pericentric heterochromatin and must spread continuously from initiation sites within these regions in a crystallization-like process without interruption to silence genes in nearby euchromatin. However, the mass-action model is also completely consistent with the idea that abnormal proximity of euchromatin to heterochromatin enforced by rearrangements results in the stochastic



Figure 1.2 Remodeling of methylated histone H3 by RNA Polymerase II passage. As RNA Polymerase II traverses a chromatin domain containing methylated histone H3 (\Box , the nucleosomes in its path are evicted from the DNA). As chromatin is reassembled in the wake of the Polymerase, unmethylated histone H3.3 is used, leaving a domain of unmarked chromatin. Redrawn from Eissenberg and Elgin (2005).

colonization of euchromatin by heterochromatin at latent, cryptic "initiation" sites in euchromatin such as TE or repetitive sequences. Since key factors that assemble heterochromatin by mass action are diffusible, they could spread in *cis* or in *trans*, either continuously or discontinuously.

4. HISTONE MODIFICATIONS AND HETEROCHROMATIN TARGETING

4.1. Heterochromatin-associated chromatin marks

The idea that covalent histone modifications could regulate transcription was first advanced by Vincent Allfrey and colleagues (Allfrey *et al.*, 1964; Pogo *et al.*, 1966). In the past 15 years, this inference has gained robust support, as the tools for the genetic dissection and cytological characterization of chromatin modifications have been developed. The current model driving experiments on histone modifications is the "histone code" hypothesis, which posits that combinations of covalent histone modifications partition chromosomes into distinct functional domains (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001; Strahl and Allis, 2000; Turner, 1993, 2002). In many cases, the key observations that have led to our current understanding of histone modifications in heterochromatin were first made in *Drosophila*.

The different histone H4 isoforms acetylated at lysines 5, 8, 12, or 16 were shown to have distinct genomic distributions in *Drosophila* polytene chromosomes (Turner *et al.*, 1992). H4 isoforms acetylated at lysines 5 or 8 are found widely dispersed throughout the euchromatic arms, but only in low amounts in the chromocenter heterochromatin. In contrast, the isoform acetylated at lysine 12 is significantly enriched in the chromocenter and in bands along the polytene fourth chromosome, a pattern highly reminiscent of HP1 distribution. Subsequent genome-wide analysis using chromatin immunoprecipitation and cDNA microarrays confirmed that hyperactylated histone H3 and H4 isoforms are enriched in the transcription units of active genes in *Drosophila* (Schübeler *et al.*, 2004).

H3K9me2 is found at high concentrations throughout the pericentric heterochromatin, along the fourth chromosome and at dispersed euchromatic sites in *Drosophila* polytene chromosomes, while H3K9me3 has a more restricted distribution within pericentric heterochromatin (Cowell *et al.*, 2002; Ebert *et al.*, 2004; Jacobs *et al.*, 2001; Schotta *et al.*, 2002; Fig. 1.3). The SU(VAR)3–9 protein is required for most of the H3K9me2 in pericentric heterochromatin (Ebert *et al.*, 2004; Schotta *et al.*, 2002), while the SETDB1 protein is required for most of the H3K9me2 on the fourth chromosome (Seum *et al.*, 2007). Histone H4 trimethylated at lysine 20 (H4K20me3) is also found at high concentrations in the pericentric heterochromatin in *Drosophila*, although it is also



Figure 1.3 In salivary gland nuclei, all pericentric heterochromatin coalesces into a structure called the chromocenter (arrow) that stains strongly for H3K9me2 (left), a characteristic histone methylation mark of heterochromatin in *Drosophila*. In *Drosophila*, only a low amount of H3K9me3 within the core of chromocenter heterochromatin is detected in polytene chromosomes (right). Photo provided by Anja Ebert. (See Color Insert.)

widespread in euchromatin (Schotta *et al.*, 2004). In larvae lacking SU (VAR)3–9, the H3K9 dimethylase (see below), the heterochromatic concentration of H4K20me3 is markedly reduced. Strikingly, loss of HP1, a heterochromatin-associate protein that binds the H3K9me2 methyl mark (see below) results in loss of the H4K20me3 mark from both heterochromatin and euchromatin. A mutation in the gene encoding the H4K20 trimethylase, *Suv4–20*, is a dominant suppressor of heterochromatic position-effect variegation (Schotta *et al.*, 2004; but see also Sakaguchi *et al.*, 2008), suggesting that the H4K20me3 methyl mark plays a role in the establishment or maintenance of heterochromatin.

4.2. Proteins that bind heterochromatin-associated marks

Methylated H3K9 is specifically recognized by HP1-family proteins in (Bannister et al., 2001; Jacobs mammal and Drosophila and Khorasanizadeh, 2002; Lachner et al., 2001; Nielsen et al., 2002; Peters et al., 2002). In a genome-location analysis, dimetH3K9 was associated with loci that were also associated with hypoacetylated histones in human cells (Miao and Natarajan, 2005). HP1 colocalizes with H3K9me2 in Drosophila and fission yeast (Jacobs et al., 2001; Noma et al., 2001), and loss of methylation causes a dramatic reduction of HP1 in heterochromatin in mammalian, yeast, and Drosophila cells (Ebert et al., 2004; Lachner et al., 2001; Nakayama et al., 2001; Schotta et al., 2002). Targeted H3K9 methylase represses a mammalian gene in vivo (Snowden et al., 2002), although it is not clear that the repression is by the same mechanism as that operating in heterochromatin. An HP1 chromo domain mutation that ablates PEV silencing in Drosophila (Platero et al., 1995) also interferes with the ability of HP1 to bind H3K9me2 in vitro (Jacobs et al., 2001), strengthening the mechanistic connection between HP1-nucleosome interactions and HP1mediated repression. However, evidence suggests that other HP1-histone

and HP1–DNA interactions could contribute to HP1 targeting in chromosomes (Eskeland *et al.*, 2007; Perrini *et al*, 2004; Zhao *et al.*, 2000).

5. Nonhistone Proteins and Heterochromatin Targeting

5.1. Heterochromatin protein 1

One of the first genes encoding a heterochromatin-associated protein to be cloned was the *Drosophila* Heterochromatin Protein 1 (HP1; James and Elgin, 1986). It was identified as a band on SDS-PAGE among proteins from embryo nuclei that remained complexed with DNA in 0.25 M potassisum thiocyanate, but were solubilized by 1 M potassium thiocynate. This band was used to immunize mice, and a monoclonal antibody generated from these mice immunolocalized the antigen primarily to the heterochromatic chromocenter of fixed salivary gland polytene chromosomes (James and Elgin, 1986; James *et al.*, 1989). The antibody was used to screen a λ gt11 expression library, resulting in the cloning of HP1 cDNA (James and Elgin, 1986).

The *in situ* hybridization of this cDNA clone to cytological region 29A on the second chromosome coincided with the map location of a genetic suppressor of heterochromatic position-effect silencing termed Su(var)205 (Sinclair *et al.*, 1983), and molecular characterization of alleles from multiple independent screens established HP1 as a dose-dependent modifier of heterochromatin silencing (Eissenberg and Hartnett, 1993; Eissenberg *et al.*, 1990, 1992). Subsequent work shows that HP1 family proteins are found in fission yeast, animals and plants, though not in bacteria or budding yeast.

In all higher eukaryotes, at least one HP1 family protein shows a preferential localization to pericentric heterochromatin. In cases where they have been tested, these HP1 family proteins have been implicated in silencing in certain assays; all three mammalian HP1 homologs target heterochromatin when expressed in *Drosophila*, and one isoform promotes heterochromatin silencing in flies (Ma *et al.*, 2001). In other contexts, though, HP1 is required for normal transcription. It has long been known that several genes map to pericentric heterochromatin in *Drosophila*. In some cases, the normal expression of these genes has been shown to require HP1 (Lu *et al.*, 2000) and the chromatin containing such genes is enriched in HP1 (de Wit *et al.*, 2005, 2007; Greil *et al.*, 2003).

Evidence from immunolocalization of *Drosophila* HP1 on polytene chromosomes (Fanti *et al.*, 2003; James *et al.*, 1989) and from DamID genomic localization in cultured Kc cells (de Wit *et al.*, 2005, 2007; Greil

et al., 2003) shows that HP1 is enriched at certain euchromatic loci. Prominent among these in polytene chromosomes is the cytological interval 31 in the middle of the left arm of the second chromosome, a region subsequently shown to contain genes that are HP1-repressed in third instar larvae (Hwang *et al.*, 2001). At least one polytene chromosome puff site also shows significant staining, suggesting that transcriptionally active chromatin could accumulate significant amounts of HP1. This observation was extended by Piacentini *et al.* (2003), who found HP1 associated with heat shock puffs as well. HP1 is probably not targeted by directly binding to nascent RNA, since HP1 binding in polytene chromosomes is not significantly affected by RNase digestion (Piacentini *et al.*, 2003) although some studies suggest RNA contributes to HP1 binding (Muchardt *et al.*, 2002).

The first immunolocalization of HP1 in polytene chromosomes also revealed significant concentrations of HP1 at telomeres (James *et al.*, 1989). Although telomeres are associated with transgene silencing in *Drosophila* (Cryderman *et al.*, 1999b; Golubovsky *et al.*, 2001; Hazelrigg *et al.*, 1984; Karpen and Spradling, 1992; Levis *et al.*, 1993; Marin *et al.*, 2000; Wallrath and Elgin, 1995), the telomeric silencing mechanism in *Drosophila* is, for the most part, genetically distinct from centromeric silencing (Donaldson *et al.*, 2002; Mason *et al.*, 2004). Mutations in *tefu*, the *Drosophila* ATM homologue, reduce the amount of HP1 at telomeres and cause a recessive suppression of telomeric silencing (Oikemus *et al.*, 2004), suggesting an indirect mechanistic link between HP1 binding at telomeres and telomeric silencing.

Mutations in the Drosophila HP1-encoding gene Su(var)2-5 are recessive lethal. The lethal period was mapped to the third larval instar by temperature shift experiments using a Hsp70-HP1 transgene (Eissenberg and Hartnett, 1993) and by using larval cuticle markers (Lu *et al.*, 2000). Loss of heterochromatic silencing and reduced expression of heterochromatic genes were noted in larvae approaching the lethal period (Lu *et al.*, 2000), suggesting a failure of HP1-dependent gene regulation could contribute to lethality. However, adult flies rescued by HP1 expression in midlarval development show eye and wing defects suggesting defects in imaginal disc cell proliferation and behavioral defects consistent with CNS defects (Eissenberg and Hartnett, 1993). Detailed examination of neuroblasts in HP1 mutant larvae revealed extensive telomeric fusions (Fanti *et al.*, 1998; Perrini *et al.*, 2004). These fusions could result in proliferation defects in the dividing cells of the imaginal disks and CNS, and suggest that HP1 also plays an essential role in telomere capping in Drosophila.

In biochemical fractionation, HP1 is associated with the telomeric HOAP protein (Badugu *et al.*, 2003; Shareef *et al.*, 2003). HOAP is encoded by the *caravaggio* locus, and mutations in *caravaggio* cause telomere fusions in larval neuroblasts that resemble those seen in HP1 mutant neuroblasts (Cenci *et al.*, 2003b). Thus, HOAP and HP1 are thought to be essential

components of the *Drosophila* telomere capping complex, although it is unknown whether HP1 is targeted to telomeres by HOAP itself or through a distinct mechanism (Cenci *et al.*, 2003b). HOAP is also enriched in the pericentric heterochromatin, and *caravaggio* mutations dominantly suppress heterochromatic silencing (Badugu *et al.*, 2003).

In situ measurements of HP1 family proteins in mammalian cells using fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) indicate that much of nuclear HP1 is remarkably dynamic (Cheutin et al., 2003; Festenstein et al., 2003). In heterochromatic regions, most HP1 turns over within 60-200 s. This observation is consistent with the mass action model of Locke et al. (1988), which invokes a dynamic equilibrium between dissociated and assembled heterochromatic subunits. However, the original protocol used to identify HP1 in Drosophila demonstrates that a fraction of HP1 is sufficiently tightly bound to chromatin in embryos to resist extraction by moderate concentrations of chaotropic agents (James and Elgin, 1986). FRAP studies in transgenic ex vivo T cells indicate that ca. 30% of heterochromatic HP1 is immobile (Festenstein et al., 2003), while in Hep-2 cells this represents ca. 5% of HP1 in heterochromatin (Schmiedeberg et al., 2004). Perhaps this relatively immobile fraction corresponds to the tightly bound HP1 in Drosophila, and could account for the stability of heterochromatic silencing.

Drosophila HP1 was the first characterized protein with a chromo domain motif (Eissenberg, 2001b; Eissenberg and Khorasanizadeh, 2005). The HP1 chromo domain is located in the N-terminal half of all HP1 family proteins (Eissenberg and Elgin, 2000). Subsequent sequence comparisons identified a second chromo domain motif in the C-terminal half of HP1 family proteins, called the "chromo shadow domain" (Aasland and Stewart, 1995; Epstein et al., 1992; Koonin et al., 1995). The HP1 chromo domain is sufficient to target heterochromatin *in vivo*, and a point mutation in the Drosophila HP1 chromo domain inactivates the ability of the protein to contribute to heterochromatin silencing (Platero et al., 1995). Structural studies revealed that the chromo domain is a high-affinity binding site diand tri-methylated lysine 9 of histone H3 (Jacobs and Khorasanizadeh, 2002; Nielsen et al., 2002). The chromo shadow domain is also capable of targeting heterochromatin in vivo (Powers and Eissenberg, 1993). Structural studies show that the HP1 family chromo shadow domain is a self-association motif (Brasher et al., 2000; Cowieson et al., 2000). Self-association through the chromo shadow domain could explain the heterochromatintargeting ability of this domain in a nucleus containing endogenous HP1. Deletions that remove part or all of the Drosophila HP1 chromo shadow domain also abolish silencing activity (Eissenberg and Hartnett, 1993; Eissenberg et al., 1992).

Multiple mechanisms could target HP1 to distinct chromosomal sites directly or by recruiting one of the four known histone H3K9

methylase orthologs in *Drosophila* [SU(VAR)3–9, G9A, SETDB1, and EU-HMTase 1], resulting in HP1 binding. Loss of SU(VAR)3–9 leads to a dramatic reduction in HP1 levels in pericentric heterochromatin (Schotta *et al.*, 2002), while loss of SETDB1 leads to a dramatic reduction of HP1 at nontelomeric sites in euchromatin and along the euchromatic fourth chromosome (Seum *et al.*, 2007). However, *in vitro* studies indicate that HP1 can bind to nucleosomes lacking tails, and that nonhistone proteins may contribute to HP1 binding to methylated chromatin (Eskeland *et al.*, 2007; Zhao *et al.*, 2000).

An RNAi mechanism is required for HP1-mediated silencing in fission yeast, and one study suggests that this mechanism may also occur in flies (Pal-Bhadra *et al.*, 2004; Verdel *et al.*, 2004; Volpe *et al.*, 2002). Since transposon transcripts are an important biological target for RNAi, transposons could mediate heterochromatin formation through an RNAi mechanism. In *Drosophila*, a study mapping HP1 binding sites in >3 Mb of DNA using the DamID method found 17 regions of significant HP1 binding, all but one of which were TE or other repeated elements (Sun *et al.*, 2003). This is consistent with a role for 1360/*hoppel* transposons in mediating HP1dependent silencing on the fourth chromosome (see above). Using an array containing over 6200 cDNA fragments, Greil *et al.* (2003) found significant HP1 concentrations in pericentric and subtelomeric sequences in chromatin from the Kc cell line. Thus, repetitious DNA, rather than any particular DNA sequence, may be an important sequence determinant in heterochromatin formation.

5.2. Su(var)3–7

SU(VAR)3–7 was the second heterochromatin-associated protein to be cloned in *Drosophila* (Reuter *et al.*, 1990). Its gene product, SU(VAR)3–7, is a seven zinc finger protein that binds DNA *in vitro* (Cléard and Spierer, 2001; Cléard *et al.*, 1995), binds HP1 and is enriched in pericentric heterochromatin (Cléard *et al.*, 1997; Delattre *et al.*, 2000). Like HP1, it is essential (Seum *et al.*, 2002) and it is a dosage dependent modifier of heterochromatic position-effect variegation (Reuter *et al.*, 1990). Importantly, however, HP1 binding to the chromocenter does not require SU(VAR)3–7 (Spierer *et al.*, 2005).

When SU(VAR)3–7 is overexpressed from a heat shock inducible transgene, the protein binds extensively to all the euchromatic arms in polytene chromosomes (Delattre *et al.*, 2004). Ectopic SU(VAR)3–7 binding is accompanied by increased euchromatic levels of dimetH3K9 and this increased dimetH3K9 depends on the heterochromatic H3K9 methylase SU(VAR)3–9 (see below). Additionally, SU(VAR)3–7 overexpression results in increased euchromatic accumulation of HP1, which also depends on SU(VAR)3–9. These findings point to model in which SU(VAR)3–7

recruits the H3K9 methylase SU(VAR)3–9, which dimethylates H3K9, resulting in ectopic HP1 binding (Delattre *et al.*, 2004).

Unlike HP1, however, SU(VAR)3–7 does not belong to an evolutionarily conserved family of heterochromatin-associated proteins. Either the SU(VAR)3–7:HP1 interaction and the role of SU(VAR)3–7 in H3K9 dimethylation is a specialized adaptation of *Drosophila* or the homologous zinc finger protein that fulfills this role in other organisms has diverged so much as to be unrecognizable.

5.3. Su(var)3–9

Su(var)3-9 was first identified in *Drosophila* as a gene whose mutations cause strong dominant suppression of heterochromatic silencing (Tschiersch *et al.*, 1994). The protein product of this gene contains a chromo domain motif a binding motif for methylated lysine—and a SET domain, the catalytic domain of histone methylases.

Biochemical and yeast two-hybrid protein analysis demonstrate that the heterochromatin-associated protein SU(VAR)3-9 interacts directly with HP1 (Aagaard et al., 1999; Schotta et al., 2002). This interaction is consistent with the colocalization of HP1 and SU(VAR)3-9 proteins in the Drosophila pericentric heterochromatin (Fig. 1.4). Studies in Drosophila, fission yeast, and mammals demonstrate that SU(VAR)3-9 family proteins are H3K9 methylating enzymes (Czermin et al., 2001; Ebert et al., 2004; Eskeland et al., 2004; Nakayama et al., 2001; Rea et al., 2000; Schotta et al., 2002) and that HP1 family proteins bind specifically to the H3K9me2 methyl mark (Bannister et al., 2001; Jacobs and Khorasanizadeh, 2002; Jacobs et al., 2001; Lachner et al., 2001; Nielsen et al., 2002). These findings have coalesced around an attractive cascade model for HP1 family protein recruitment and the assembly and spreading of HP1-dependent heterochromatin: (1) SU (VAR)3-9 proteins are recruited to specific chromosomal sites (by an unknown mechanism) and through its HP1-binding activity, recruits HP1; (2) SU(VAR)3-9 methylates H3K9 residues on nearby nucleosomes; (3) additional HP1 binds to the newly methylated nucleosome; (4) more SU



Figure 1.4 The SU(VAR)3–9 and HP1 proteins colocalize in chromocenter heterochromatin. Photo provided by Anja Ebert. (See Color Insert.)

(VAR)3–9 protein is recruited by the additional HP1; and (5) the additional SU(VAR)3–9 protein methylates adjacent nucleosomes, which creates new HP1 binding sites, etc. Loss of HP1 results in increased H3K9 dimethylation in the euchromatin of polytene chromosomes, consistent with the model that SU(VAR)3–9:HP1 interaction constrains SU(VAR)3–9 histone methylating activity to heterochromatin (Ebert *et al.*, 2004).

A mutation in the SU(VAR)3–9 SET domain, *pitkin^D*, is a strong dominant enhancer of heterochromatic position effect (Ebert *et al.*, 2004; Kuhfittig *et al.*, 2001). *pitkin^D* behaves as a hypermorphic allele of Su(var)3–9, and results in increased euchromatic H3K9me2 (Ebert *et al.*, 2004). Gene silencing in heterochromatic rearrangements is suppressed by Su(var)3–9, Su(var)2–5 (encodes HP1), Suv4–20, and Su(var)3–1 (encodes the JIL–1 protein kinase) mutations, reflecting a silencing pathway initiated by SU(VAR) 3–9-dependent H3K9 dimethylation, a mark recognized by HP1 which anchors SU(VAR)3–9 to heterochromatin and recruits the H4K20me3-catalyzing SUV4–20 histone methyltransferase (Schotta *et al.*, 2002, 2004).

Spreading of heterochromatic H3K9 methylation into euchromatin is normally inhibited by the JIL-1 kinase (Ebert et al., 2006; Lerach et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2006), which phosphorylates serine 10 of histone H3 (H3S10) in euchromatin. Surprisingly, loss-of-function mutations in JIL-1 suppress PEV of *white* in the classical variegating rearrangement w^{m4} , but enhance PEV of white when the gene is inserted within pericentric heterochromatin on a P-element transposon (Bao et al., 2007). The suppression of w^{m4} could be explained by ectopic relocalization of SU(VAR)3–9 and HP1 proteins to euchromatin from pericentric heterochromatin, reducing the ability of the remaining heterochromatic complexes to spread across the w^{m4} breakpoint and silence white at a distance. The enhancement of white transposon silencing could reflect the local loss of H3S10 phosphorylation at the white and the local shift in the euchromatin-heterochromatin balance in favor of heterochromatin. The mechanism by which H3S10 phosphorylation antagonizes heterochromatin appears to involve competition with SU (VAR)3-9, since the lethality associated with loss of JIL-1 can be partially rescued by loss of SU(VAR)3-9 (Deng et al., 2007). Taken together, these results point to a role of JIL-1 and/or H3K10 phosphorylation in the spatial restriction of heterochromatin in the nucleus.

5.4. Origin recognition complex

Studies in budding yeast have implicated components of replication origins in the establishment and maintenance of silencing at the silent mating type cassettes (Laurenson and Rine, 1992). Since some of the key proteins involved in yeast silencing have no clear homologs in *Drosophila*, and since budding yeast lacks both cytologically visible heterochromatin and homologs of some of the key players implicated in *Drosophila* heterochromatin (e.g., HP1, SU(VAR)3-9, methylation of H3K9, the RNAi mechanism, etc.), it is not clear that replication origins in *Drosophila* play an analogous role in heterochromatic silencing. Antibody to the Drosophila origin recognition complex subunit Orc2 shows significant concentration in apical regions of interphase nuclei and in pericentromeric regions of metaphase chromosomes at all stages of syncytial embryos, irrespective of whether cytologically visible heterochromatin is present (Pak et al., 1997). Upon cellularization, embryonic Orc2 is primarily detectable in extrachromosomal material at the metaphase plate in anaphase cells, but shows preferential localization to pericentric heterochromatin in metaphase chromosomes of SL2 cultured cells (Pak et al., 1997). In the giant polytene chromosomes of larval salivary glands, little or no selective association with pericentric heterochromatin by immunostaining of polytene chromosomes is evident (Pak et al., 1997), suggesting that interaction with HP1 in the heterochromatin of these nuclei is limited at best. Interestingly, orc-containing protein complexes copurify with HP1 and HOAP, both of which are found at telomeres and act to prevent telomere fusions in mitotic cells (discussed above). Thus, although origin recognition complexes appear to be enriched in the pericentric regions of mitotically cycling chromosomes, there is no compelling evidence that replication origins are mechanistically involved in heterochromatin assembly in Drosophila.

5.5. Cohesins and heterochromatin

In fission yeast, interaction between cohesin and the HP1 family protein Swi6 is important for the establishment of sister chromatid cohesion in centromeric heterochromatin (Bernard *et al.*, 2001; Nonaka *et al.*, 2002). However, cohesions and HP1 show little or no colocalization in *Drosophila* polytene chromosomes, particularly in the heterochromatic chromocenter (Gause *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, mitotic chromosomes from larvae lacking HP1 show no significant loss of sister chromatid cohesion or defects in polytene chromosome organization (Fanti *et al.*, 1998), while loss of cohesin function leads to cohesion defects in mitotic cells (Gause *et al.*, 2008) and altered polytene chromosome morphology (Dorsett *et al.*, 2005). Thus, the evidence from *Drosophila* suggests that interactions between cohesin and HP1-family proteins in heterochromatin are not an evolutionarily conserved feature of sister chromatid cohesion.

5.6. Artificial targeting proteins and ectopic heterochromatin

Studies in *Drosophila* have demonstrated that heterochromatin-like properties can be targeted to euchromatic sites by tethering HP1 protein. Seum *et al.* (2001) tethered HP1, expressed as a Gal4-HP1 fusion protein, to transgene reporters inserted at euchromatic sites. One of six transgene

insertion sites showed GAL4-HP1-dependent variegated silencing; the silencing required the GAL4 binding site and was suppressed by reducing dosage of Su(var)3-7, a gene that encodes a heterochromatin-associated protein and silencing modifier (discussed earlier). It was also associated with ectopic pairing to sites of intercalary heterochromatin in polytene chromosomes, another hallmark of heterochromatin. To explain the exceptional behavior of the transposon that did show silencing, the authors note that this transgene was inserted into a copy of the micropia retrotransposon, and near a cluster of middle repetitive elements that are mostly found in centric heterochromatin. Thus, like the case of the 1360/hoppel element and fourth chromosome position effects,*** ectopic heterochromatin formation with tethered HP1 appears to require a chromosomal context containing nearby transposons and/or middle repetitive DNA. Importantly, transgenes that do not show silencing still bind the GAL4-HP1 fusion protein, as was seen previously for white transgene arrays (Fanti et al., 1998). This is consistent with a heterochromatin mass action model in which subthreshold amounts of heterochromatic factors assemble at nonsilenced arrays, and a conversion to silencing results from juxtaposition with other chromosomal regions that attain sufficient concentrations of factors to establish stable silencing.

Somewhat different results are obtained when HP1 is tethered as a HP1– lacI fusion protein to tandem arrays of 4–256 lacI binding sites (Li *et al.*, 2003). For 25/26 euchromatic transgene insertion sites, tethering of HP1 resulted in reduced expression of the mini-*white* transgene marker and a large fraction of polytene chromosomes showed ectopic fibers linking the transgene sites to other chromosomal loci, as is seen with intercalary heterochromatin. However, in no case was variegated silencing typical of heterochromatic position effect observed. Also in contrast to classical heterochromatic position effect, no significant accumulation of H3K9me2 was observed even though SU(VAR)3–9 is recruited to the loci where HP1 is tethered. Furthermore, the repression imposed by tethered HP1 was insensitive to loss of SU(VAR)3–9 protein, suggesting that the mechanism of HP1-mediated repression in these tethered HP1 transgenes differs in significant respects from heterochromatin silencing.

In follow-up studies, the effects of tethering HP1 to 256-copy lac I arrays on transgene chromatin structure was investigated (Danzer and Wallrath, 2004). Consistent with previous reports on the effects of classical heterochromatin silencing on transgene chromatin structure (Sun *et al.*, 2001; Wallrath and Elgin, 1995), the repression associated with HP1–lac I arrays is associated with ordered nucleosome arrays and increased resistance to restriction endonuclease cleavage. Surprisingly, the repression of an Hsp 26 heat shock promoter located on one side of the lac I array was independent of SU(VAR)3–9, while repression of an Hsp70 heat shock promoter on the other side of the array is completely relieved in the absence

of SU(VAR)3–9. Taken together, the results of HP1 tethering experiments suggest that HP1 targeting alone is insufficient to nucleate heterochromatin formation, but that HP1 can impose transcriptional repression and modify chromatin by multiple mechanisms.

6. NUCLEAR ASSOCIATIONS AND HETEROCHROMATIN IN *DROSOPHILA*

6.1. Trans-inactivation

Most examples of heterochromatic position-effect silencing are recessive; the function of an unrearranged allele masks the silencing of the rearranged allele. A notable exception to this is dominant variegation for the *brown* [*bw*] locus. Rearrangements variegating for the *brown* [*bw*] eye pigment gene cause dominant inactivation of the wild type *bw* allele in *trans* to hetero-chromatin (Slatis, 1955), a phenomenon termed "*trans*-inactivation" (Henikoff and Dreesen, 1989).

In the case of *brown*^{Dominant} (bw^D), a 1–2 Mb block of heterochromatic satellite sequence has been inserted into the brown (bw) locus. However, in contrast to null alleles of *brown*, which are recessive, the bw^D allele causes variegation of a wild type bw allele in trans. The silenced bw allele acquires neither the condensed cytological appearance of heterochromatin nor recruits detectable amounts of HP1 in polytene chromosomes (Belyaeva et al., 1997). This suggests that dominant silencing of bw allele in trans by bw^D occurs by a distinct mechanism from other forms of heterochromatic silencing. Detailed confocal microscopic analysis, combined with immuno-FISH, showed that silencing by bw^{D} is correlated with association with pericentric heterochromatin (Csink and Henikoff, 1996). The idea that dragging a euchromatic locus into proximity with pericentric heterochromatin could silence that locus is consistent with a mass action model of chromatin assembly. However, it seems unlikely that physical proximity alone would be sufficient, since the nearby essential genes chrw (ca. 6 kb downstream of bw) and wmd (ca. 6 kb upstream of bw) would otherwise be inactivated. Indeed, a later study demonstrated that heterochromatic associations are compatible with an active brown allele (Sass and Henikoff, 1999). Thus, proximity to a domain of heterochromatin alone is not sufficient to confer heterochromatic silencing; such nuclear associations may be a concomitant of, but not causative of, heterochromatic silencing.

Trans-inactivation is not limited to the *brown* locus in *Drosophila*. Martin-Morris *et al.* (1997) and Dorer and Henikoff (1997) described *white* transgenes that variegate due to *cis*-inactivation by pericentric heterochromatin and that can impose heterochromatic silencing on a transgene located at a homologous position in *trans*. Moreover, they present evidence suggesting

that a neighboring essential gene is silenced in *trans* due to spreading of heterochomatic silencing from the *trans*-inactivated allele. These remarkable findings provide particularly clear and dramatic examples of position effects, reflecting the ability of local concentrations of heterochromatic factors to drive the establishment of ectopic heterochromatin domains on nearby loci, either in *cis* or in *trans*.

6.2. Heterochromatin associations

Several studies in yeast strongly implicate regions around the nuclear membrane in promoting transcriptional silencing (Andrulis *et al.*, 1998; Gartenberg *et al.*, 2004; Gasser *et al.*, 1998; Hediger *et al.*, 2002; Taddei *et al.*, 2004). The relationship between silencing and proximity to the nuclear membrane is not a simple one; however, the nuclear pore complex, imbedded in the nuclear membrane, has been implicated in transcriptional activity (Casolari *et al.*, 2004; Schmid *et al.*, 2006). Live-cell measurements have also shown that genes move to the nuclear envelope upon transcriptional activation (Cabal *et al.*, 2006; Drubin *et al.*, 2006; Taddei *et al.*, 2006).

In a rigorous study comparing nuclear associations and heterochromatic silencing on a cell-by-cell basis for three different variegating loci, Harmon and Sedat (2005) found that in the nuclei of cells in which the variegating gene was silenced, the association of the silenced locus with heterochromatin was significantly more intimate than in neighboring cells of the same tissue in which the locus escaped silencing. Oddly, however, they found that in mitotically cycling, undifferentiated cells where silencing of one of the rearrangements occurs in all cells, there was no difference in the extent of associations between these cells and differentiated cells in the same tissue, where variegated activation occurs. This suggests that the associations have no necessary functional relationship to silencing.

In mammals, correlations have also been noted between transcriptionally silent loci and blocks of heterochromatin (Brown *et al.*, 1997). The timing of such associations, however, suggests that they are not an obligatory part of the silencing mechanism (Brown *et al.*, 1999). The inactive X in mammalian females is associated with the nucleolus in mid-to-late S phase (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). An ectopic X inactivation center can target an autosome to the nucleolus, and deletion of the gene encoding the Xist noncoding RNA results in loss of nucleolar targeting (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). Such interactions suggest a physical affinity of certain types of chromatin, but the consequences for gene expression of these interactions may depend on additional factors besides physical proximity.

Taken together, the data concerning gene silencing and nuclear positioning are most consistent with a model in which associations between specific silent loci and certain nuclear regions are correlative but not causative. A simple way to think about this is that certain protein complexes that promote silencing are recruited to silenced genes, that these complexes are shared with other chromosomal regions (including, in some cases, heterochromatin), and that aggregation between distant chromosomal regions may be facilitated by the affinities of shared complex components for one another. By this model, the association of a variegating gene with heterochromatin is a byproduct of gene silencing. Though a reinforcing or stabilizing role for heterochromatic associations is not excluded by this model, the targeting of heterochromatin to a silenced locus does not appear to require heterochromatic associations.

7. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

What has *Drosophila* taught us about heterochromatin? Heterochromatic position-effect silencing was first described in *Drosophila* (Muller, 1930) and genetic screens for modifiers of such position effects uncovered key factors in heterochromatin assembly (Dorn *et al.*, 1986; Sinclair *et al.*, 1983; Wustmann *et al.*, 1989). Many of these factors are structurally and functionally conserved.

The findings in *Drosophila* have pointed to a mechanism of heterochromatin assembly in which multiple factors contribute to silencing and in which cooperative protein complex assembly plays an important role. Transgene studies in *Drosophila* have emphasized the role both of specific sequences and proteins, and the cooperativity of interactions that are required to target heterochromatin assembly. As neatly summarized by Yasuhara and Wakimoto (2008): "... it is not repetitive sequences *per se* that specifies heterochromatin but the physical proximity of multiple repetitive sequences of a certain type... [suggesting] versatility in the activities of different types of heterochromatin-enriched repetitive DNA sequences and modified histones and... the importance of chromosomal context."

Cloning and characterization of heterochromatic DNA and genetic modifiers of PEV in *Drosophila* allowed the study of heterochromatin to join the mainstream of molecular biology. Versatile genetics and extraordinary cytology account for the important role *Drosophila* has played in our understanding of heterochromatin and its formation. With the advent of genome sequencing, chromatin immunoprecipitation and microarray analysis, the advantage of a high-resolution genome-wide map afforded by polytene chromosome cytology has been eclipsed. The genetic toolkit of *Schizosacharomyces pombe* has also come to complement the genetics of *Drosophila* in this field. To the extent that *Drosophila* will continue to offer unique insights into heterochromatin assembly and function, this will be primarily as a model metazoan. The role, if any, of heterochromatin in development, differentiation, cell signaling and aging is unclear. The genetic dissection of each of these processes is advancing rapidly using *Drosophila*, and numerous examples of control at the level of chromatin have already been uncovered, including HP1 and heterochromatic histone marks. Many of the mechanisms used to establish heterochromatin in *Drosophila* are likely to underlie mechanisms of growth, development, and aging in *Drosophila* and other animals.

REFERENCES

- Aagaard, L., Laible, G., Selenko, P., Schmid, M., Dorn, R., Schotta, G., Kuhfittig, S., Wolf, A., Lebersorger, A., Singh, P. B., Reuter, G., and Jenuwein, T. (1999). Functional mammalian homologues of the *Drosophila* PEV-modifier Su(var)3–9 encode centromereassociated proteins which complex with the heterochromatin component M31. *EMBOJ*. 8, 1923–1938.
- Aasland, R., and Stewart, A. F. (1995). The chromo shadow domain, a second chromo domain in heterochromatin-binding protein 1, HP1. Nucleic Acids Res. 23, 3163–3173.
- Ahmad, K., and Golic, K. G. (1996). Somatic reversion of chromosomal position effects in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 144, 657–670.
- Ahmad, K., and Henikoff, S. (2001). Modulation of a transcription factor counteracts heterochromatic gene silencing in *Drosophila*. *Cell* **104**, 839–847.
- Allfrey, V., Faulkner, R. M., and Mirsky, A. E. (1964). Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 51, 786–794.
- Andreyeva, E. N., Kolesnikova, T. D., Demakova, O. V., Mendez-Lago, M., Pokholkova, G. V., Belyaeva, E. S., Rossi, F., Dimitri, P., Villasante, A., and Zhimulev, I. F. (2007). High-resolution analysis of *Drosophila* heterochromatin organization using SuUR Su(var)3–9 double mutants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 104, 12819–12824.
- Andrulis, E. D., Neimean, A. M., Zappulla, D. C., and Sternglanz, R. (1998). Perinuclear localization of chromatin facilitates transcriptional silencing. *Nature* 394, 592–595.
- Ashburner, M. (1989). Drosophila. A laboratory handbook. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Badugu, R., Shareef, M. M., and Kellum, R. (2003). Novel Drosophila heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1)/Origin Recognition Complex-associated Protein (HOAP) repeat motif in HP1/HOAP interactions and chromocenter associations. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 34491–34498.
- Baker, W. K. (1967). A clonal system of differential gene activity in *Drosophila*. Dev. Biol. 16, 1–17.
- Baker, W. K. (1968). Position-effect variegation. Adv. Genet. 14, 133-169.
- Bannister, A. J., Zegerman, P., Partridge, J. F., Miska, E. A., Thomas, J. O., Allshire, R. C., and Kouzarides, T. (2001). Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. *Nature* **410**, 120–124.
- Bao, X., Deng, H., Johansen, J., Girton, J., and Johansen, K. M. (2007). Loss-of-function alleles of the JIL-1 H3S10 kinase enhance position-effect variegation at pericentric sites in *Drosophila* heterochromatin. *Genetics* 176, 1355–1358.
- Barigozzi, C., Dolfini, S., Fraccaro, M., Raimondi, G. R., and Tiepolo, L. (1966). In vitro study of the DNA replication patterns of somatic chromosomes of Drosophila melanogaster. Exp. Cell. Res. 43, 231–234.

- Becker, H. J. (1957). Über Röntgenmosaikflecken und Defektmutationen am Auge von Drosophila und die Entwicklungsphysiologie des Auges. Zeit Indukt Abstammungs-Vererbungslehre 88, 333–373.
- Becker, H. J. (1961). Untersuchungen zur Wirkung des Heterochromatins auf die Genmanifestation bei Drosophila melanogaster. Verhandl Deut Zool Gese Bonn-Rhein Suppl. 24, 283–291.
- Becker, H. J. (1966). Genetic and variegation mosaics in the eye of *Drosophila. In* "Current Topics in Developmental Biology" (A. A. Moscona and A. Monroy, Eds.), Vol. 1, pp. 155–171. Academic Press, New York.
- Beckstead, R. B., Ner, S. S., Hales, K. G., Grigliatti, T. A., Baker, B. S., and Bellen, H. J. (2005). Bonus, a *Drosophila* TIF1 homolog, is a chromatin-associated protein that acts as a modifier of position-effect variegation. *Genetics* 169, 783–794.
- Belyaeva, E. S., and Zhimulev, I. F. (1991). Cytogenetic and molecular aspects of position effect variegation in *Drosophila* III. Continuous and discontinuous compaction of chromosomal material is a result of position-effect variegation. *Chromosoma* 100, 453–466.
- Belyaeva, E. S., Demakova, O. V., Umbetova, G. H., and Zhimulev, I. F. (1993). Cytogenetic and molecular aspects of position-effect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. V. Heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 appears in euchromatic chromosomal regions that are inactivated as a result of position-effect variegation. *Chromosoma* 102, 583–590.
- Belyaeva, E. S., Koryakov, D. E., Pokholkova, G. V., Demakova, O. V., and Zhimulev, I. F. (1997). Cytological study of the *brown* dominant position effect. *Chromosoma* 106, 124–132.
- Belyaeva, E. S., Zhimulev, I. F., Volkova, E. I., Alekseyendo, A. A., Moshkin, Y. M., and Koryakov, D. E. (1998). Su(UR)ES: A gene suppressing DNA underreplication in intercalary and pericentric heterochromatin of Drosophila melanogaster polytene chromosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 7532–7537.
- Belyakin, S. N., Christophides, G. K., Aleksyenko, A. A., Kriventseva, E. V., Belyaeva, E. S., Nanaev, R. A., Makunin, I. V., Kafatos, F. C., and Zhimulev, I. F. (2005). Genomic analysis of *Drosophila* chromosome underreplication reveals a link between replication control and transcriptional territories. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **102**, 8269–8274.
- Berghella, L., and Dimitri, P. (1996). The heterochromatic rolled gene of *Drosophila* melanogaster is extensively polytenized and transcriptionally active in the salivary gland chromocenter. *Genetics* **144**, 117–125.
- Bernard, P., Maure, J. F., Partridge, J. F., Genier, S., Javerzat, J. P., and Allshire, R. C. (2001). Requirement of heterochromatin for cohesion at centromeres. *Science* 294, 2539–2542.
- Biessmann, H., Mason, J. M., Ferry, K., d'Hulst, M., Valgeirsdottir, K., Traverse, K. L., and Pardue, M. L. (1990). Addition of telomere-associated HeT DNA sequences "heals" broken chromosome ends in *Drosophila*. *Cell* **61**, 663–673.
- Boivin, A., and Dura, J. M. (1998). *In vivo* chromatin accessibility correlates with gene silencing in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* **150**, 1539–1549.
- Bonaccorsi, S., Pisano, C., Puoti, F., and Gatti, M. (1988). Y chromosome loops in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 120, 1015–1034.
- Bosco, G., Campbell, P., Leiva-Neto, J. T., and Markow, T. A. (2007). Analysis of Drosophila species genome size and satellite DNA content reveals significant differences among strains as well as between species. Genetics 177, 1277–1290.
- Brasher, S. V., Smith, B. O., Fogh, R. H., Nietlispach, K., Thiru, A., Nielsen, P. R., Broadhurst, R. W., Ball, L. F., Murzina, N. V., and Laue, E. D. (2000). The structure of mouse HP1 suggests a unique mode of single peptide recognition by the shadow chromo domain dimer. *EMBO J.* **19**, 1587–1597.

- Bridges, C. B. (1935). The mutants and linkage data of chromosome four of *Drosophila* melanogaster. Biol. Zh. 4, 401-420.
- Brown, M. S. (1940). Chiasma formation in the *bobbed* region of the X chromosome of Drosophila melanogaster. Univ. Texas Publ. 4032, 65–72.
- Brown, K. E., Guest, S. S., Smale, S. T., Hahm, K., Merkenschlager, M., and Fisher, A. G. (1997). Association of transcriptionally silent genes with Ikaros complexes at centromeric heterochromatin. *Cell* **91**, 845–854.
- Brown, K. E., Baxter, J., Graf, D., Merkenschlager, M., and Fisher, A. G. (1999). Dynamic repositioning of genes in the nucleus of lymphocytes preparing for cell division. *Mol. Cell* 3, 207–217.
- Cabal, G. G., Rodrigez-Navarro, S., Genevesio, A., Olivo-Marin, J. C., Zimmer, C., Gadal, O., Feuerbach-Fournier, F., Lesne, A., Buc, H., Hurt, E., and Nehrbass, U. (2006). SAGA interacting factors confine subdiffusion of transcribed genes to the nuclear envelope. *Nature* 441, 770–773.
- Cartwright, I. L., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1986). Nucleosomal instability and induction of new upstream protein–DNA associations accompany activation of four small heat shock protein genes in *Drsophila melanogaster*. Mol. Cell Biol. 6, 779–791.
- Casolari, J. M., Brown, C. R., Komili, S., West, J., Hieronymus, H., and Silver, P. A. (2004). Genome-wide localization of the nuclear transport machinery couples transcriptional status and nuclear organization. *Cell* **117**, 427–439.
- Caspersson, T., and Schultz, J. (1938). Nucleic acid metabolism of the chromosome in relation to gene reproduction. *Nature* 142, 294–295.
- Cenci, G., Siriaco, G., and Gatti, M. (2003a). The role of HeT-A and TART retrotransposons in *Drosophila* telomere capping. *Genetica* 117, 311–318.
- Cenci, G., Siriaco, G., Raffa, G. D., Kellum, R., and Gatti, M. (2003b). The Drosophila HOAP protein is required for telomere capping. Nat. Cell Biol. 5, 82–84.
- Chen, S. Y. (1948). Action de la temperature sur trois mutants a panachure de Drosophila melanogaster: w²⁵⁸⁻¹⁸, w^{m5} and z. Bull. Biol. Fr. Belg. 82, 114–129.
- Cheutin, T., McNairn, A. J., Jenuwein, T., Gilbert, D. M., Singh, P. B., and Misteli, T. (2003). Maintenance of stable heterochromatin domains by dynamic HP1 binding. *Science* 299, 721–725.
- Clark, D. V., Sabl, J. F., and Henikoff, S. (1998). Repetitive arrays containing a housekeeping gene have altered polytene chromosome morphology in *Drosophila*. *Chromosoma* 107, 96–104.
- Cléard, F., and Spierer, P. (2001). Position-effect variegation in *Drosophila*: The modifier Su (var)3–7 is a modular DNA-binding protein. *EMBO Rep.* 2, 1095–1100.
- Cléard, F., Matsarskaia, M., and Spierer, P. (1995). The modifier of position-effect variegation Suvar(3)7 of *Drosophila*: There are two alternative transcripts and seven scattered zinc fingers, each preceded by a tryptophan box. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23, 796–802.
- Cléard, F., Delattre, M., and Spierer, P. (1997). SU(VAR)3–7, a Drosophila heterochromatin-associated protein and companion of HP1 in the geomic silencing of position effect variegation. EMBO J. 16, 5280–5288.
- Cooper, K. W. (1955). Phenotypic effects of Y chromosome hyperploidy in Drosophila melanogaster, and their relation to variegation. Genetics 41, 242–264.
- Cowell, I. G., Aucott, R., Mahadevaiah, S. K., Burgoyne, P. S., Huskisson, N., Bongiorni, S., Prantera, G., Fanti, L., Pimpinelli, S., Wu, R., Gilbert, D. M., Shi, S., et al. (2002). Heterochromatin, HP1 and methylation at lysine 9 of histone H3 in animals. *Chromosoma* 111, 22–36.
- Cowieson, H. P., Partridge, J. F., Allshire, R. C., and McLaughlin, P. F. (2000). Dimerisation of a chromo shadow domain and distinctions from the chromodomain as revealed by structural analysis. *Curr. Biol.* **10**, 517–525.

- Cryderman, D. E., Tang, H., Bell, C., Gilmour, D. S., and Wallrath, L. L. (1999a). Heterochromatic silencing of *Drosophila* heat shock genes acts at the level of promoter potentiation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27, 3364–3370.
- Cryderman, D. E., Morris, E. J., Biessmann, H., Elgin, S. C. R., and Wallrath, L. L. (1999b). Silencing at *Drosophila* telomeres: Nuclear organization and chromatin structure play critical roles. *EMBO J.* 18, 3724–3735.
- Csink, A. K., and Henikoff, S. (1996). Genetic modification of heterochromatic association and nuclear organization in *Drosophila*. *Nature* **381**, 529–531.
- Czermin, B., Schotta, G., Hulsmann, B. B., Brehm, A., Becker, P. B., Reuter, G., and Imhof, A. (2001). Physical and functional association of SU(VAR)3–9 and HDAC in *Drosophila. EMBO Rep.* 2, 915–919.
- Danilevskaya, O., Slot, F., Pavlova, M., and Pardue, M. L. (1994). Structure of the Drosophila HeT-A transposon: A retrotransposon-like element forming telomeres. Chromosoma 103, 215–224.
- Danzer, J. R., and Wallrath, L. L. (2004). Mechanisms of HP1-mediated gene silencing in Drosophila. Development 131, 3571–3580.
- Delattre, M., Spierer, A., Tonka, C. H., and Spierer, P. (2000). The genomic silencing of position-effect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Interaction between the heterochromatin-associated proteins Su(var)3–7 and HP1. J. Cell Sci. 113, 4253–4261.
- Delattre, M., Spierer, A., Jaquet, Y., and Spierer, P. (2004). Increased expression of Drosophila Su(var)3–7 triggers Su(var)3–9-dependent heterochromatin formation. J. Cell Sci. 117, 6239–6247.
- Demerec, M. (1940). Genetic behavior of euchromatic segments inserted into heterochromatin. Genetics 25, 618–627.
- Demerec, M. (1941). The nature of changes in the *white-Notch* region of the X chromosome of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc. Seventh Int. Cong. Genet.* 99–103.
- Demerec, M., and Slizynska, H. (1937). Mottled white 258–18 of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* **22**, 641–649.
- Deng, H., Bao, X., Zhang, W., Girton, J., Johansen, J., and Johansen, K. M. (2007). Reduced levels of Su(var)3–9 but not Su(var)2–5 (HP1) counteract the effects on chromatin structure and viability in loss-of-function mutants of the JIL-1 histone H3S10 kinase. Genetics 177, 79–87.
- de Wit, E., Greil, F., and van Steensel, B. (2005). Genome-wide HP1 binding in *Drosophila*: Developmental plasticity and genomic targeting signals. *Genome Res.* **15**, 1265–1273.
- de Wit, E., Greil, F., and van Steensel, B. (2007). High-resolution mapping reveals links of HP1 with active and inactive chromatin components. *PLoS Genet.* 3, 346–357.
- Dobzhansky, T. (1932). The baroid mutation in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 17, 369–392.
- Dobzhansky, T. (1936). L'effect de position et la theorie de l'heredite. *Biol. Rev.* 11, 364–384.
- Donaldson, K. M., Lui, A., and Karpen, G. H. (2002). Modifiers of terminal deficiencyassociated position effect variegation in *Drosophila*. Genetics 160, 995–1009.
- Dorer, D. R., and Henikoff, S. (1994). Expansions of transgene repeats cause heterochromatin formation and gene silencing in *Drosophila*. Cell 77, 993–1002.
- Dorer, D. R., and Henikoff, S. (1997). Transgene repeat arrays interact with distant heterochromatin and cause silencing in *cis* and *trans*. *Genetics* **147**, 1181–1190.
- Dorn, R., Heymann, S., Lindigkeit, R., and Reuter, G. (1986). Suppressor mutation of position-effect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster* affecting chromatin properties. *Chromosoma* 93, 398–403.
- Dorn, R., Krauss, V., Reuter, G., and Saumweber, H. (1993). The enhancer of positioneffect variegation, *E(var)3–93D*, codes for a chromatin protein containing a conserved domain common to several transcriptional regulators. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90, 11376–11380.

- Dorsett, D., Eissenberg, J. C., Misulovin, Z., Martens, A., Redding, B., and McKim, K. (2005). Effects of sister chromatid cohesion proteins on cut gene expression during wing development in *Drosophila*. *Development* **132**, 4743–4753.
- Drubin, D. A., Garakani, A. M., and Silver, P. A. (2006). Motion as a phenotype: The use of live-cell imaging and machine visual screening to characterize transcription-dependent chromosome dynamics. *BMC Cell Biol.* 7, 19.
- Dubinin, N. P., and Sidorov, B. N. (1935). The position effect of the Hairy gene. Biol. Zh 4, 555–568.
- Ebert, A., Schotta, G., Lein, S., Kubicek, W. S., Krauss, V., Jenuwein, T., and Reuter, G. (2004). Su(var) genes regulate the balance between euchromatin and heterochromatin in *Drosophila. Genes Dev.* 18, 2973–2983.
- Ebert, A., Lein, S., Schotta, G., and Reuter, G. (2006). Histone modification and the control of heterochromatic gene silencing in *Drosophila*. *Chromosome Res.* **14**, 377–392.
- Eissenberg, J. C. (1989). Position effect variegation in *Drosophila*: Towards a genetics of chromatin assembly. *BioEssays* 11, 14–17.
- Eissenberg, J. C. (2001a). Decisive factors: A transcription activator can overcome heterochromatin silencing. *BioEssays* 23, 767–771.
- Eissenberg, J. C. (2001b). Molecular biology of the chromo domain: An ancient chromatin module comes of age. *Gene* 275, 19–29.
- Eissenberg, J. C., and Elgin, S. C. R. (2000). The HP1 protein family: Getting a grip on chromatin. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **10**, 204–210.
- Eissenberg, J. C., and Elgin, S. C. R. (2005). Antagonizing the neighbours. Nature 438, 1090–1091.
- Eissenberg, J. C., and Hartnett, T. (1993). A heat shock-activated cDNA rescues the recessive lethality of mutations in the heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 of *D. melanogaster. Mol. Gen. Genet.* **240**, 333–338.
- Eissenberg, J. C., and Hilliker, A. J. (2000). Versatility of conviction: Heterochromatin as both a repressor and an activator of transcription. *Genetica* **109**, 19–24.
- Eissenberg, J. C., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2005). Chromo and chromo shadow domains. *In* "Structure and Function of Modular Protein Domains" (G. Cesareni, M. Gimona, M. Sudoi, and M. Yaffe, Eds.), pp. 241–255. Wiley VCH, Chichester.
- Eissenberg, J. C., and Wallrath, L. L. (2003). Heterochromatin, position effects, and the genetic dissection of chromatin. *Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol.* **74**, 275–299.
- Eissenberg, J. C., James, T. C., Foster-Hartnett, D. M., Hartnett, T., Ngan, V., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1990). Mutation in a heterochromatin-specific chromosomal protein is associated with suppression of position-effect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 9923–9927.
- Eissenberg, J. C., Morris, G. D., Reuter, G., and Hartnett, T. (1992). The heterochromatinassociated protein HP-1 is an essential protein in *Drosophila* with dosage-dependent effects on position-effect variegation. *Genetics* **131**, 345–352.
- Eissenberg, J. C., Ge, Y. W., and Hartnett, T. (1994). Increased phosphorylation of HP1, a heterochromatin-associated protein of *Drosophila*, is correlated with heterochromatin assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 21315–21321.
- Epstein, H., James, T. C., and Singh, P. B. (1992). Cloning and expression of *Drosophila* HP1 homologs from a mealybug, *Planococcus citri*. J. Cell Sci. 101, 463–474.
- Eskeland, R., Czermin, B., Boeke, J., Bonaldi, T., Regula, J. T., and Imhof, A. (2004). The N-terminus of *Drosophila* SU(VAR)3–9 mediates dimerization and regulates its methyltransferase activity. *Biochemistry* 43, 3740–3749.
- Eskeland, R., Eberharter, A., and Imhof, A. (2007). HP1 binding to chromatin methylated at H3K9 is enhanced by auxiliary factors. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **27**, 453–465.
- Fanti, L., Dorer, D. R., Berloco, M., Henikoff, S., and Pimpinelli, S. (1998). Heterochromatin protein 1 binds transgene arrays. *Chromosoma* 107, 286–292.

- Fanti, L., Berloco, M., Piecentini, L., and Pimpinelli, S. (2003). Chromosomal distribution of heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) in *Drosophila*: A cytological map of euchromatic HP1 binding sites. *Genetica* **117**, 135–147.
- Festenstein, R., Pagakis, S. N., Hiragami, K., Lyon, D., Verreault, A., Sekkali, B., and Kioussis, D. (2003). Modulation of heterochromatin protein 1 dynamics in primary mammalian cells. *Science* 299, 719–721.
- Gall, J. G., Cohen, E. H., and Polan, M. L. (1971). Repetitive DNA sequences in *Drosophila*. *Chromosoma* **33**, 319–344.
- Gans, M. (1953). Etude genetique et physiologique du mutant z de Drosophila melanogaster. Bull. Biol. Fr. Belg. (Suppl.) 38, 1–90.
- Gartenberg, M. R., Neumann, F. R., Laroche, T., Baszczyk, M., and Gasser, S. M. (2004). Sir-mediated repression can occur independently of chromosomal and subnuclear contexts. *Cell* 119, 955–967.
- Gasser, S. M., Gotta, M., Renauld, H., Laroche, T., and Cockell, M. (1998). Nuclear organization and silencing: Trafficking of Sir proteins. *In* "Epigenetics" (D. J. Chadwick and G. Cardew, Eds.), pp. 114–126. Wiley, England.
- George, J. A., DeBaryshe, P. G., Traverse, K. L., Celniker, S. E., and Pardue, M.-L. (2006). Genomic organization of the Drosophila telomere retrotransposable elements *Genome Res.* 16, 1231–1240.
- Gause, M., Webber, H. A., Misulovin, Z., Haller, G., Rollins, R. A., Eissenberg, J. C., Bickel, S. E., and Dorsett, D. (2008). Functional links between *Drosophila* Nipped-B and cohesin in somatic and meiotic cells. *Chromosoma* 117, 51–66.
- Golubovsky, M. D., Konev, A. Y., Walter, M. F., Biessmann, H., and Mason, J. M. (2001). Terminal retrotransposons activate a subtelomeric *white* transgene at the 2L telomere in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* **158**, 1111–1123.
- Gowen, S. W., and Gay, E. H. (1934). Chromosome constitution and behavior in eversporting and mottling in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* **19**, 189–208.
- Greil, F., van der Kraan, I., Delrow, J., Smothers, J. F., de Wit, E., Bussemaker, H. J., van Driel, R., Henikoff, S., and van Steensel, B. (2003). Distinct HP1 and Su(var)3–9 complexes bind to sets of developmentally coexpressed genes depending on chromosomal location. *Genes Dev.* 17, 2825–2838.
- Griffen, A. B., and Stone, W. S. (1940). The *u*^{m5} and its derivatives. Univ. Texas Publ. **4032**, 190–200.
- Grigliatti, T. (1991). Position-effect variegation—an assay for nonhistone chromosomal proteins and chromatin assembly and modifying factors. *Methods Cell Biol.* 35, 587–627.
- Grüneberg, H. (1937). The position effect proved by a spontaneous reinversion of the X-chromosome in *Drosophila melanogaster. J. Genet.* **34**, 169–189.
- Halfer, C. (1981). Interstrain heterochromatin polymorphisms in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Chromosoma* **84**, 195–206.
- Hari, K. L., Cook, K. R., and Karpen, G. H. (2001). The *Drosophila Su(var)2–10* locus regulates chromosome structure and function and encodes a member of the PIAS protein family. *Genes Dev.* 15, 1334–1348.
- Harmon, B., and Sedat, J. (2005). Cell-by-cell dissection of gene expression and chromosomal interactions reveals consequences of nuclear reorganization. *PLoS Biol.* **3**, e67.
- Hartmann-Goldstein, I. J. (1967). On the relationship between heterochromatization and variegation in *Drosophila* with special reference to temperature-sensitive periods. *Genet. Res. Camb.* 10, 143–159.
- Hayashi, S., Ruddell, A., Sinclair, D., and Grigliatti, T. (1990). Chromosomal structure is altered by mutations that suppress or enhance positon effect variegation. *Chromosoma* 99, 391–400.

- Haynes, K. A., Caudy, A. A., Collins, L., and Elgin, S. C. R. (2006). Element 1360 and RNAi components contribute to HP1-dependent silencing of a pericentric reporter. *Curr. Biol.* 16, 2222–2227.
- Hazelrigg, T., Levis, R. W., and Rubin, G. M. (1984). Transformation of white locus DNA in Drosophila: Dosage compensation, zeste interaction, and position effects. Cell 36, 469–481.
- Hediger, F., Neumann, F. R., van Houwe, G., Dubrana, K., and Gasser, S. M. (2002). Live imaging of telomeres: yKu and Sir proteins define redundant telomere-anchoring pathways in yeast. *Curr. Biol.* **12**, 2076–2089.
- Heino, T. I. (1989). Polytene chromosomes from ovarian pseudonurse cells of the Drosophila melanogaster otu mutant. Chromosome 97, 363–373.
- Heitz, E. (1928). Das heterochromatin der moose. I. Jahrb. Wiss. Bot. 69, 762-818.
- Henikoff, S. (1981). Position-effect variegation and chromosome structure of a heat shock puff in Drosophila. Chromosoma 83, 381–393.
- Henikoff, S., and Dreesen, T. D. (1989). *Trans*-inactivation of the *Drosophila* brown gene: Evidence for transcriptional repression and somatic pairing dependence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86, 6704–6708.
- Henikoff, S., Ahmad, K., and Malik, H. S. (2001). The centromere paradox: Stable inheritance with rapidly evolving DNA. *Science* 293, 1098–1102.
- Hinton, T., and Atwood, K. C. (1941). Terminal adhesion of salivary gland chromosome in Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 27, 491–496.
- Hochman, B. (1976). In "The Genetics and Biology of Drosophila" (M. Ashburner and E. Novitski, Eds.), vol. 1b, pp. 903–928. Academic Press, New York.**
- Hoskin, A. R., Carlson, J. W., Kennedy, C., Acevedo, D., Evans-Holm, M., Frise, E., Wan, H. K., Park, S., Mendez-Lago, M., Rossi, F., Villasante, A., Dimitry, P., et al. (2007). Sequence finishing and mapping of *Drosophila melanogaster* heterochromatin. *Science* **316**, 1625–1628.
- Hwang, K. K., Eissenberg, J. C., and Worman, H. J. (2001). Transcriptional repression of euchromatic genes by *Drosophila* heterochromatin protein 1 and histone modifiers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98, 11423–11427.
- Ingham, P. W. (1985). A clonal analysis of the requirement for the trithorax gene in the diversification of segments in Drosophila. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 89, 349–365.
- Jacobs, S. A., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2002). Structure of HP1 chromodomain bound to a lysine 9-methylated histone H3 tail. *Science* **295**, 2080–2083.
- Jacobs, S. A., Taverna, S. D., Zhang, Y., Briggs, S. D., Li, J., Eissenberg, J. C., Allis, C. D., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2001). Specificity of HP1 chromo domain for methylated N-terminus of histone H3. *EMBO J.* 20, 5232–5241.
- James, T. C., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1986). Identification of a nonhistone chromosomal protein associated with heterochromatin in *Drosophila* and its gene. *Mol. Cell Biol.* **6**, 3862–3872.
- James, T. C., Eissenberg, J. C., Craig, C., Dietrich, V., Hobson, A., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1989). Distribution patterns of HPI, a heterochromatin-associated chromosomal protein of *Drosophila*. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **50**, 170–180.
- Janning, W. (1970). Bestimmung des Heterochromatisierungsstadiums beim white-Positioneffekt mittels röntgeninduzierter mitotischer rekombination in Augenanlagen von Drosophila melanogaster. Mol. Gen. Genet. 107, 128–149.
- Janning, W. (1971). Autonome Determination für Pigmentbildung beim white-Positionseffekt von Drosophila melanogaster. W. Roux Arch. 170, 267–298.
- Jenuwein, T., and Allis, C. D. (2001). Translating the histone code. Science 293, 1074–1080.
- Judd, B. H. (1955). Direct proof of a variegated-type position effect at the white locus in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 40, 739–744.
- Karpen, G. H., and Spradling, A. C. (1992). Analysis of subtelomeric heterochromatin in the *Drosophila* minichromosome *Dp1187* by single-P element insertional mutagenesis. *Genetics* 132, 737–753.

- Karpen, G. H., Le, M. H., and Le, H. (1996). Centric heterochromatin and the efficiency of achiasmate disjunction in Drosophila female meiosis. *Science* 273, 118–122.
- Kaufmann, B. P. (1939). Distribution of induced breaks along the X-chromosome of Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 25, 571–577.
- Kaufmann, B. P. (1942). Reversion from roughest to wild type in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 27, 537–549.
- Kaufmann, B. P., and Gay, H. (1969). The capacity of the fourth chromosome of *Drosophila* melanogaster to establish end-to-end contacts with other chromosomes in salivary-gland cells. *Chromosoma* 26, 395–409.
- Khesin, R. B., and Bashkirov, V. W. (1978). Maternal influence upon the V-type gene position effect in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 163, 327–334.
- King, R. C., Riley, S. F., Cassidy, J. D., White, P. E., and Paik, Y. K. (1981). Giant polytene chromosomes from the ovaries of a *Drosophila* mutant. *Science* 212, 441–443.
- Koonin, E. V., Zhou, S. B., and Lucchesi, J. C. (1995). The chromo superfamily—new members, duplication of the chromo domain and possible role in delivering transcription regulators to chromatin. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23, 4229–4233.
- Kornher, J. S., and Kauffinan, S. A. (1986). Variegated expression of the Sgs-4 locus in Drosophila melanogaster. Chromosoma 94, 205–216.
- Koryakov, D. E., Reuter, G., Patrizio, D., and Zhimuliev, I. (2006). Heterochromatic proteins HP1, SU(VAR)3–9 and SUUR are distributed differently in chromosomes of germ-line and somatic cells of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Chromosoma* **115**, 296–310.
- Kuhfittig, S., Szabad, J., Schotta, G., Hoffmann, J., Mathe, E., and Reuter, G. (2001). Pitkin^D, a novel gain-of-function enhancer of position-effect variegation, affects chromatin regulation during oogenesis and early embryogenesis in Drosophila. *Genetics* 157, 1227–1244.
- Kuhn, G. C. S., and Sene, F. M. (2005). Evolutionary turnover of two pBuM satellite DNA subfamilies in the *Drosophila buzzatii* species cluster (*repleta* group): From *alpha* to *alpha/beta* arrays. *Gene* **349**, 77–85.
- Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. *Nature* 410, 116–120.
- Laurenson, P., and Rine, J. (1992). Silencers, silencing, and heritable transcriptional states. *Microbiol. Rev.* 56, 543–560.
- Le, M. H., Duricka, D., and Karpen, G. H. (1995). Islands of complex DNA are widespread in *Drosophila* centric heterochromatin. *Genetics* 141, 283–303.
- Le, H. D., Donaldson, K. M., Cook, K. R., and Karpen, G. H. (2004). A high proportion of genes involved in position effect variegation also affect chromosome inheritance. *Chromosoma* 112, 269–276.
- Lerach, S., Zhang, W., Bao, X., Deng, H., Girton, J., Johansen, J., and Johansen, K. M. (2006). Loss-of-function alleles of the JIL-1 kinase are strong suppressors of position effect variegation of the w^{m4} allele in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* 173, 2403–2406.
- Levis, R. W., Ganesan, R., Houchens, K., Tolar, L. A., and Sheen, F. M. (1993). Transposons in place of telomeric repeats at a *Drosophila* telomere. *Cell* 75, 1083–1093.
- Lewis, E. B. (1950). The phenomenon of position effect. Adv. Genet. 3, 73-115.
- Li, Y., Danzer, J. R., Alvarez, P., Belmont, A. S., and Wallrath, L. L. (2003). Effects of tethering HP1 to euchromatic regions of the *Drosophila* genome. *Development* 130, 1817–1824.
- Locke, J., and McDermid, H. E. (1993). Analysis of *Drosophila* chromosome 4 using pulsed field gel electrophoresis. *Chromosoma* **102**, 718–723.
- Locke, J., Kotarski, M. A., and Tartof, K. D. (1988). Dosage dependent modifiers of position effect variegation in *Drosophila* and a mass action model that explains their effect. *Genetics* 120, 181–198.

- Locke, J., Podemski, L., Roy, K., Pilgrim, D., and Hodgetts, R. (1999). Analysis of two cosmid clones from chromosome 4 of *Drosophila melanogster* reveals two new genes amid an unusual arrangement of repeated sequences. *Genome Res.* **9**, 137–149.
- Lohe, A. R., and Brutlag, D. L. (1986). Multiplicity of satellite DNA sequences in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83, 696–700.
- Lu, Q., Wallrath, L. L., Allan, B. D., Glaser, R. L., Lis, J. T., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1992). Promoter sequences containing (CT)_n.(GA)_n repeats are critical for the formation of the DNase I hypersensitive sites in the *Drosophila hsp26* gene. J. Mol. Biol. 225, 985–998.
- Lu, Q., Wallrath, L. L., Granok, H., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1993). (CT)_n.(GA)_n repeats and heat shock elements have distinct roles in chromatin structure and transcriptional activation of the *Drosophila hsp26* gene. *Mol. Cell Biol.* **13**, 2802–2814.
- Lu, B. Y., Bishop, C. P., and Eissenberg, J. C. (1996). Developmental timing and tissue specificity of heterochromatin mediated silencing. *EMBO J.* 15, 1323–1332.
- Lu, B. Y., Emtage, P. C. R., Duyf, B. J., Hilliker, A. J., and Eissenberg, J. C. (2000). Heterochromatin protein 1 is required for the normal expression of two heterochromatin genes in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* **155**, 699–708.
- Ma, J., Hwang, K. K., Worman, H. J., Courvalin, J. C., and Eissenberg, J. C. (2001). Expression and functional analysis of three isoforms of human heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 in *Drosophila*. *Chromosoma* **109**, 536–544.
- Makunin, I. V., Volkova, E. I., Belyaeva, E. S., Nabirochkina, E. N., Pirrotta, V., and Zhimulev, I. F. (2002). The *Drosophila* Suppressor of underreplication protein binds to late-replicating regions of polytene chromosomes. *Genetics* 160, 1023–1034.
- Mal'ceva, N. I., and Zhimulev, I. F. (1993). Extent of polyteny in the pericentric heterochromatin of polytene chromosomes of pseudonurse cells of *otu (ovarian tumor)* mutants of *Drosophila melanogaster. Mol. Gen. Genet.* 240, 273–276.
- Malik, H. S., and Henikoff, S. (2002). Conflict begets complexity: The evolution of centromeres. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 12, 711–718.
- Marin, L., Lehmann, M., Nouaud, D., Hassan, I., Anxolabéhère, D., and Ronsseray, S. (2000). P-element repression in Drosophila melanogaster by a naturally occurring defective telomeric P copy. Genetics 155, 1841–1854.
- Martin-Morris, L. E., Csink, A. K., Dorer, D. R., Talbert, P. B., and Henikoff, S. (1997). Heterochromatic trans-inactivation of Drosophila white transgenes. Genetics 147, 671–677.
- Mason, J. M., Ransom, J., and Konev, A. Y. (2004). A deficiency screen for dominant suppressors of telomeric silencing in *Drosophila*. Genetics 168, 1353–1370.
- Miao, F., and Natarajan, R. (2005). Mapping global histone methylation patterns in the coding regions of human genes. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 25, 4650–4661.
- Miklos, G. L., Yamamoto, M. T., Davies, J., and Pirrotta, V. (1988). Microcloning reveals a high frequency of repetitive sequences characteristic of chromosome 4 and the β -heterochromatin of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**, 2051–2055.
- Morgan, T. H., and Schultz, J. (1942). Investigations on the constitution of the germinal material in relation to heredity. *Yearbook Carnegie Inst.* 41, 242–245.
- Muchardt, C., Guilleme, M., Seeler, J. S., Trouche, D., Dejean, A., and Yaniv, M. (2002). Coordinated methyl and RNA binding is required for heterochromatin localization of mammalian HP1alpha. *EMBO Rep.* 3, 975–981.
- Muller, H. J. (1930). Types of visible variations induced by X-rays in *Drosophila*. J. Genet. 22, 299–334.
- Muller, H. J., and Painter, T. S. (1932). The differentiation of the sex chromosomes of Drosophila into genetically active and intert regions. Z. Indukt. Abstammungs Vererbungsl 62, 316–365.
- Murphy, T. D., and Karpen, G. H. (1995). Localization of centromere function in a Drosophila mini chromosome. Cell 82, 599–609.

- Nakayama, J., Rice, J. C., Strahl, B. D., Allis, C. D., and Grewal, S. I. (2001). Role of histone H3 lysine 9 methylation in epigenetic control of heterochromatin assembly. *Science* 292, 110–113.
- Nakayama, T., Nishioka, K., Dong, Y. X., Shimojima, T., and Hirose, S. (2008). Drosophila GAGA factor directs histone H3.3 replacement that prevents the heterochromatin spreading. Genes Dev. 21, 552–561.
- Nielsen, P. R., Nietlispach, D., Mott, H. R., Callaghan, J., Bannister, A., Kouzarides, T., Murzin, A. G., Murzina, N. V., and Laue, E. D. (2002). Structure of the HP1 chromodomain bound to histone H3 methylated at lysine 9. *Nature* **416**, 103–107.
- Noma, K. I., Allis, C. D., and Grewal, S. I. S. (2001). Transitions in distinct histone H3 methylation patterns at the heterochromatin domain boundaries. *Science* 293, 1150–1155.
- Nonaka, N., Kitajima, T., Yokobayashi, S., Xiao, G., Yamamoto, M., Grewal, S. I., and Watanabe, Y. (2002). Recruitment of cohesin to heterochromatic regions by Swi6/HP1 in fission yeast. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 89–93.
- Noujdin, N. J. (1936). Influence of the Y chromosome and of the the homologous region of the X chromosome on mosaicism in *Drosophila*. *Nature* **137**, 319–320.
- Noujdin, N. I. (1944). The regularities of the influence of heterochromatin on mosaicism. J. Gen. Biol. **6**, 357–388.
- Oikemus, S. R., McGinnis, N., Queiroz-Machado, J., Tukachinsky, H., Takada, S., Sunkel, C. E., and Brodsky, M. H. (2004). *Drosophila* atm/telomere fusion is required for telomeric localization of HP1 and telomere position effect. *Genes Dev.* 18, 1850–1861.
- Pak, D. T., Pflumm, M., Chesnokov, I., Huang, D. W., Kellum, R., Marr, J., Romanowski, P., and Botchan, M. R. (1997). Association of the origin recognition complex with heterochromatin and HP1 in higher eukaryotes. *Cell* **91**, 311–323.
- Pal Bhadra, M., Leibovitch, B. A., Gandhi, S. G., Rao, M., Bhadra, U., Birchler, J. A., and Elgin, S. C. R. (2004). Heterochromatic silencing and HP1 localization in *Drosophila* are dependent on the RNAi machinery. *Science* **303**, 669–672.
- Panshin, I. B. (1935). New evidence for the position effect hypothesis. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci. USSR 4, 85–88.
- Panshin, I. B. (1938). The cytogenetic nature of the position effect of the genes white (mottled) and cubitus interruptus. Biol. Zh. Mosk 7, 837–868.
- Perrini, B., Piacentini, L., Fanti, L., Altieri, F., Chichiarelli, S., Berloco, M., Turano, C., Ferraro, A., and Pimpinelli, S. (2004). HP1 controls telomere capping, telomere elongation, and telomere silencing by two different mechanisms in *Drosophila*. *Mol. Cell* 15, 467–476.
- Peters, A. H., Mermoud, J. E., O'Carroll, D., Pagani, M., Schweizer, D., Brockdorff, N., and Jenuwein, T. (2002). Histone H3 lysine 9 methylation is an epigenetic imprint of facultative heterochromatin. *Nat. Genet.* **30**, 77–80.
- Piacentini, L., Fanti, L., Berloco, M., Perrini, B., and Pimpinelli, S. (2003). Heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) is associated with induced gene expression in *Drosophila* euchromatin. *J. Cell Biol.* 161, 707–714.
- Platero, J. S., Hartnett, T., and Eissenberg, J. C. (1995). Functional analysis of the chromodomain of HP1. EMBO J. 14, 3977–3986.
- Pogo, B. G. T., Allfrey, V. G., and Mirsky, A. E. (1966). RNA synthesis and histone acetylation during the course of gene activation in lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 55, 805–812.
- Powers, J. A., and Eissenberg, J. C. (1993). Overlapping domains of the heterochromatinassociated protein HP1 mediate nuclear localization and heterochromatin binding. J. Cell Biol. 120, 291–299.
- Prokofieva-Belgovskaya, A. A. (1939). Cytological mechanism of mosaicism and of chromosome rearrangement. C. R. Dokl. Acad. Sci. USSR N. S 22, 270–273.

- Prokofieva-Belgovskaya, A. A. (1941). Cytological properties of inert regions and their bearing on the mechanics of mosaicism and chromosome rearrangement. *Drosoph. Inf. Serv.* 15, 34–35.
- Prokofieva-Belgovskaya, A. A. (1947). Heterochromatization as a change of the chromosome cycle. J. Genet. 48, 80–98.
- Rea, S., Eisenhaber, F., O'Carroll, D., Strahl, B. D., Sun, Z. W., Schmid, M., Opravil, S., Mechtler, K., Ponting, C. P., Allis, C. D., and Jenuwein, T. (2000). Regulation of chromatin structure by site-specific histone H3 methylatransferase. *Nature* **406**, 593–599.
- Reuter, G., and Spierer, P. (1992). Position-effect variegation and chromatin proteins. *BioEssays* 14, 605–612.
- Reuter, G., Werner, W., and Hoffman, H. J. (1982a). Mutants affecting position effect heterochromatinization in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Chromosoma* **85**, 539–551.
- Reuter, G., Dorn, R., and Hoffmann, H. J. (1982b). Butyrate sensitive suppressor of position-effect variegation mutations in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 188, 480–485.
- Reuter, G., Giarre, M., Farah, J., Gausz, J., Spierer, A., and Spierer, P. (1990). Dependence of position-effect variegation in *Drosophila* on dose of a gene encoding an unusual zincfinger protein. *Nature* 344, 219–223.
- Rossi, F., Moschetti, R., Caizzi, R., Corradini, N., and Dimitri, P. (2007). Cytogenetic and molecular characterization of heterochromatin gene models in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* 175, 595–607.
- Rudkin, G. T. (1965). The structure and function of heterochromatin. Proc. 11th Int. Congr. Genet. The Hague 1963** 2, 359–374.
- Rudolph, T., Yonezawa, M., Lein, S., Heidrich, K., Kubicek, S., Schäfer, C., Phalke, S., Walther, M., Schmidt, A., Jenuwein, T., and Reuter, G. (2007). Heterochromatin formation in *Drosophila* is initiated through active removal of H3K4 methylation by the LSD1 homolog SU(VAR)3–3. *Mol. Cell* 26, 103–115.
- Rushlow, C. A., Bender, W., and Chovnick, A. (1984). Studies on the mechanism of heterochromatic positon effect at the rosy locus of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* 108, 603–615.
- Sabl, J. F., and Henikoff, S. (1996). Copy number and orientation determine the susceptibility of a gene to silencing by nearby heterochromatin in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* **142**, 447–458.
- Sakaguchi, A., Karachentsev, D., Seth-Pasricha, M., Druzhinina, M., and Steward, R. (2008). Functional characterization of the *Drosophila* Hmt4–20/Suv4–20 histone methyltransferase. *Genetics* **179**, 317–322.
- Sass, G. L., and Henikoff, S. (1999). Pairing-dependent mislocalization of a *Drosophila* brown gene reporter to a heterochromatic environment. *Genetics* 152, 595–604.
- Savitsky, M., Kravchuk, O., Melnikova, L., and Georgiev, P. (2002). Heterochromatin Protein 1 is involved in control of telomere elongation in *Drosophila melanogaster. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 3204–3218.
- Schloßherr, J., Eggert, H., Paro, R., Cremer, S., and Jack, R. S. (1994). Gene inactivation in *Drosophila* mediated by the *Polycomb* gene product or by position-effect variegation does not involve major changes in the accessibility of the chromatin fibre. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 243, 453–462.
- Schmid, M., Arib, G., Laemmli, C., Nishikawa, J., Durussel, T., and Laemmli, U. K. (2006). Nup-PI: The nucleopore–promoter interaction of genes in yeast. *Mol. Cell* 21, 379–391.
- Schmiedeberg, L., Weisshart, K., Diekmann, S., Meyer Zu Hoerste, G., and Hemmerich, P. (2004). High- and low-mobility populations of HP1 in heterochromatin of mammalian cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **15**, 2819–2833.
- Schneider, I. (1962). Modification of V-type position effects in Drosophila virilis. Genetics 47, 25–44.

- Schotta, G., Ebert, A., Krauss, V., Fischer, A., Hoffmann, J., Rea, S., Jenuwein, T., Dorn, R., and Reuter, G. (2002). Central role of *Drosophila* SU(VAR)3–9 in histone H3-K9 methylation and heterochromatic gene silencing. *EMBO J.* 21, 1121–1131.
- Schotta, G., Lachner, M., Sarma, K., Ebert, A., Sengupta, R., Reuter, G., Reinberg, D., and Jenuwein, T. (2004). A silencing pathway to induce H3-K9 and H4-K20 trimethylation at constitutive heterochromatin. *Genes Dev.* 18, 1251–1262.
- Schübeler, D., MacAlpine, D. M., Scalzo, D., Wirbelauer, C., Kooperberg, C., van Leeuwen, F., Gottschling, D. E., O'Neill, L. P., Turner, B. M., Delrow, J., Bell, S. P., and Groudine, M. (2004). The histone modification pattern of active genes revealed through genome-wide chromatin analysis of a higher eukaryote. *Genes Dev.* 18, 1263–1271.
- Schultz, J. (1936). Variegation in Drosophila and the inert chromosome regions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 22, 27–33.
- Schultz, J. (1941). The function of heterochromatin. Proc. Seventh Int. Cong. Genet. Edinburgh 257–262.
- Schultz, J. (1956). The relation of the heterochromatic chromosome regions to the nucleic acids of the cell. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 21, 307–328.
- Schweber, M. S. (1974). The satellite bands of the DNA of *Drosophila* virilis. *Chromosoma* 44, 371–382.
- Seum, C., Delattre, M., Spierer, A., and Spierer, P. (2001). Ectopic HP1 promotes chromosomal loops and variegated silencing in *Drosophila*. EMBO J. 20, 812–818.
- Seum, C., Pauli, D., Delattre, M., Jaquet, Y., Spierer, A., and Spierer, P. (2002). Isolation of Su(var)3–7 mutations by homologous recombination in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics 161, 1125–1136.
- Seum, C., Reo, E., Peng, H., Rauscher, F. J., Spierer, P., and Bontron, S. (2007). Drosophila SETDB1 is required for chromosome 4 silencing. PLoS Genet. 3, E76.
- Shareef, M. M., Badugu, R., and Kellum, R. (2003). HP1/ORC complex and heterochromatin assembly. *Genetica* 117, 127–134.
- Shimojima, T., Okada, M., Nakayama, T., Ueda, H., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., Handa, H., and Hirose, S. (2003). *Drosophila* FACT contributes to Hox gene expression through physical and functional interactions with GAGA factor. *Genes Dev.* 17, 1605–1616.
- Sinclair, D. A. R., Mottus, R. C., and Grigliatti, T. A. (1983). Genes which suppress positioneffect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster* are clustered. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 191, 326–333.
- Slatis, H. M. (1955). A reconsideration of the brown-dominant position effect. Genetics 40, 246–251.
- Smith, C. D., Shu, S., Mungall, C. J., and Karpen, G. H. (2007). The release 5.1 annotation of *Drosophila melanogaster* heterochromatin. *Science* **316**, 1586–1591.
- Snowden, A. W., Gregory, P. D., Case, C. C., and Pabo, C. O. (2002). Gene-specific targeting of H3K9 methylation is sufficient for initiating repression *in vivo*. *Curr. Biol.* 12, 2159–2166.
- Spierer, A., Seum, C., Delattre, M., and Spierer, P. (2005). Loss of the modifiers of variegation Su(var)3–7 or HP1 impacts male X polytene chromosome morphology and dosage compensation. J. Cell Sci. 118, 5047–5057.
- Spofford, J. B. (1959). Parental control of position-effect variegation. I. Parental heterochromatin and expression of the *white* locus in compound-X *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 45, 1003–1007.
- Spofford, J. B. (1976). Position-effect variegation in *Drosophila*. In "The Genetics and Biology of *Drosophila*" (M. Ashburner and E. Novitski, Eds.), Vol. 1c, pp. 955–1018. Academic Press, New York.
- Spradling, A. C., and Karpen, G. H. (1990). 60 years of mystery. Genetics 126, 779-784.
- Strahl, B. D., and Allis, C. D. (2000). The language of covalent histone modifications. *Nature* 403, 41–45.

- Sturtevant, A. H. (1925). The effect of unequal crossing-over at the Bar locus of Drosophila. Genetics 10, 117–147.
- Sullivan, B. A., and Karpen, G. H. (2004). Centromeric chromatin exhibits a histone modification pattern that is distinct from both euchromatin and heterochromatin. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 11, 1076–1083.
- Sun, F. L., Cuaycong, M. G., and Elgin, S. C. R. (2001). Long-range nucleosome ordering is associated with gene silencing in *Drosophila melanogaster* pericentric heterochromatin. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 2867–2879.
- Sun, L. V., Chen, L., Greil, F., Negre, N., Li, T. R., Cavalli, G., Zhao, H., van Steensel, B., and White, K. P. (2003). Protein–DNA interaction mapping using genomic tiling path microarrays in *Drosophila*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **100**, 9428–9433.
- Sun, F. L., Haynes, K., Pogacic, V., Simpson, C. L., Lee, S. D., Collins, L., Wuller, J., Eissenberg, J. C., and Elgin, S. C. R. (2004). *Cis*-acting determinants of heterochromatin formation on *Drosophila melanogaster* chromosome four. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 8210–8220.
- Taddei, A., Hediger, J., Neumann, F. R., Bauer, C., and Gasser, S. M. (2004). Separation of silencing from perinuclear anchoring functions in yeast Ku80, Sir4 and Esc1 proteins. *EMBO J.* 23, 1301–1312.
- Taddei, A., van Houwe, G., Hediger, F., Kalck, V., Cubizolles, F., Schober, H., and Gasser, S. M. (2006). Nuclear pore association confers optimal expression levels for an inducible yeast gene. *Nature* 441, 774–778.
- Thomas, G. H., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1988). Protein/DNA architecture of the DNase I hypersensitive region of the *Drosophila hsp26* promoter. *EMBO J.* **7**, 2191–2201.
- Tolchkov, E. V., Rasheva, V. I., Bonaccorsi, S., Westphal, T., and Gvozdev, V. A. (2000). The size and internal structure of a heterochromatin block determine its ability to induce position effect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* **154**, 1611–1626.
- Tschiersch, B., Hofmann, A., Krauss, V., Dorn, R., Korge, G., and Reuter, G. (1994). The protein encoded by the *Drosophila* position–effect variegation suppressor gene Su(var)3–9 combines domains of antagonistic regulators of homeotic gene complexes. *EMBO J.* 13, 3822–3831.
- Turner, B. M. (1993). Decoding the nucleosome. Cell 75, 5-8.
- Turner, B. M. (2002). Cellular memory and the histone code. Cell 111, 285-291.
- Turner, B. M., Birley, A. J., and Lavender, J. (1992). Histone H4 isoforms acetylated at specific lysine residues define individual chromosomes and chromatin domains in *Drosophila* polytene nuclei. *Cell* 69, 375–384.
- Verdel, A., Jia, S., Gerber, S., Sugiyama, T., Gygi, S., Grewal, S. I. S., and Moazed, D. (2004). RNAi-mediated targeting of heterochromatin by the RITS complex. *Science* 303, 672–676.
- Volpe, T. A., Kidner, C., Hall, I. M., Teng, G., Grewal, S. I. S., and Martienssen, R. A. (2002). Regulation of heterochromatic silencing and histone H3 lysine-9 methylation by RNAi. *Science* 297, 1833–1837.
- Wallrath, L. L., and Elgin, S. C. R. (1995). Position effect variegation in *Drosophila* is associated with an altered chromatin structure. *Genes Dev.* 9, 1263–1277.
- Westphal, T., and Reuter, G. (2002). Recombinogenic effects of suppressors of positioneffect variegation in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* **160**, 609–621.
- Wines, D. R., Talbert, P. B., Clark, D. V., and Henikoff, S. (1996). Introduction of a DNA methyltransferase into *Drosophila* to probe chromatin structure *in vivo*. *Chromosoma* 104, 332–340.
- Wustmann, G., Szidonya, J., Taubert, H., and Reuter, G. (1989). The genetics of positioneffect variegation modifying loci in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 217, 520–527.
- Yasuhara, J. C., and Wakimoto, B. T. (2006). Oxymoron no more: The expanding world of heterochromatic genes. *Trends Genet.* 22, 330–338.

- Yasuhara, J. C., and Wakimoto, B. T. (2008). Molecular landscape of modified histones in Drosophila heterochromatic genes and euchromatin–heterochromatin transition zones. PLoS Genet. 4, e16.
- Young, B. S., Pession, A., Travers, K. L., French, C., and Pardue, M. L. (1983). Telomere regions in *Drosophila* share complex DNA sequences with pericentric heterochromatin. *Cell* 34, 85–94.
- Zacharias, H. (1995). Emil Heitz (1892-1965): Chloroplasts, heterochromatin and polytene chromosomes. Genetics 141, 7–14.
- Zhang, P., and Spradling, A. C. (1994). Insertional mutagenesis of *Drosophila* heterochromatin with single P elements. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91, 3539–3543.
- Zhang, P., and Spradling, A. C. (1995). The *Drosophila* salivary gland chromocenter contains highly polytenized subdomains of mitotic heterochromatin. *Genetics* 139, 659–670.
- Zhang, W., Deng, H., Bao, X., Lerach, S., Girton, J., Johansen, J., and Johansen, K. M. (2006). The JIL-1 histone H3S10 kinase regulates dimethyl H3K9 modifications and heterochromatic spreading in *Drosophila*. *Development* 133, 229–235.
- Zhang, L. F., Huynh, K. D., and Lee, J. T. (2007). Perinucleolar targeting of the inactive X during S phase: Evidence for a role in the maintenance of silencing. *Cell* **129**, 693–706.
- Zhao, T., and Eissenberg, J. C. (1999). Phosphorylation of heterochromatin protein 1 by casein kinase II is required for efficient heterochromatin binding in *Drosophila*. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 15095–15100.
- Zhao, T., Heyduk, T., Allis, C. D., and Eissenberg, J. C. (2000). Heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) binds to nucleosomes and DNA in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 28332–28338.
- Zhao, T., Heyduk, T., and Eissenberg, J. C. (2001). Phosphorylation site mutations in heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) reduce or eliminate silencing activity. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 9512–9518.
- Zhimulev, I. F. (1998). Polytene chromosomes, heterochromatin and position effect variegation. Adv. Genet. 37, 90–282.
- Zhimulev, I. F., and Belyaeva, E. S. (2003). Intercalary heterochromatin and genetic silencing. *BioEssays* 25, 1040–1051.
- Zhimulev, I. F., Belyaeva, E. A., Bgatov, A. V., Baricheva, E. M., and Vlassova, I. E. (1988). Cytogenetic and molecular aspects of position effect variegation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Peculiarities of morphology and genetic activity of the 2B region in the T(1;2) $dor^{\mu ar7}$ chromosome in males. *Chromosoma* **96**, 255–261.
- Zhimulev, I. F., Belyaeva, E. S., Makunin, I. V., Pirrotta, V., Semeshin, V. F., Alekseyenko, A. A., Belyakin, S. N., Volkova, I. E., Koryakov, D. E., Andreyeva, E. N., Demakova, O. V., Kotlikova, I. V., et al. (2003a). Intercalary heterochromatin in *Drosophila melanogaster* polytene chromosomes and the problem of genetic silencing. *Genetica* 117, 259–270.
- Zhimulev, I. F., Belyaeva, E. S., Semeshin, V. F., Shloma, V. V., Makunin, I. V., and Volkova, E. I. (2003b). Overexpression of the *SuUR* gene induces reversible modifications at pericentric, telomeric and intercalary heterochromatin of *Drosophila melanogaster* polytene chromosomes. *J. Cell Sci.* **116**, 169–176.
- Zhimulev, I. F., Belyaeva, E. S., Semeshin, V. F., Koryakov, D. E., Demakov, S. A., Demakova, O. V., Pokholkova, G. V., and Andreyeva, E. N. (2004). Polytene chromosomes: 70 years of research. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 241, 203–275.